

Virginia Commonwealth University VCU Scholars Compass

Theses and Dissertations

**Graduate School** 

2023

## Isoprenylation Inhibition Significantly Reduces IgE Mediated Mast Cell Function and Allergic Disease

Jordan Dailey Virginia Commonwealth University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarscompass.vcu.edu/etd

Part of the Allergy and Immunology Commons

© The Author

#### Downloaded from

https://scholarscompass.vcu.edu/etd/7193

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at VCU Scholars Compass. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of VCU Scholars Compass. For more information, please contact libcompass@vcu.edu.

## Isoprenylation Inhibition Significantly Reduces IgE Mediated Mast Cell Function and Allergic Disease

By

Jordan M Dailey BS, University of Florida Director: John J. Ryan, Professor Department of Biology

Virginia Commonwealth University

Richmond, Virginia

January 13, 2023

# Table of Contents

Acknowledgments	4
Abbreviations	5
Abstract	7
Introduction	9
Brief Introduction to the immune system Figure 1: Cell lineage of the Immune cells Figure 2: Pathogen exposure causes activation of the innate and adaptive immune system	<b>9</b> 12 13
Brief Introduction allergic disease and asthma Figure 3: Continued allergen exposure leads to exacerbation of asthma	<b>14</b> 16
Mast cells and their roles in allergic disease Figure 4: FccRI signaling during antigen specific IgE crosslinking in the presence of allergen	<b>17</b>
Statins as a potential therapy Figure 5: Cholesterol synthesis pathway	<b>21</b>
Isoprenylation	24
Ras, Rac, Rho family proteins in mast cell activation	25
Methods	
Mouse mast cells	28
Human skin MC cultures	29
Cytokines and reagents	29
FTI2153, GGTI-2417 and FGTI-2734	
Secreted Cytokine measurements	
Degranulation	31
Propidium iodide staining	32
siRNA gene targeting	32
Western Blot	32
Intracellular cytokine staining	
Seahorse metabolic flux analysis	
RT-qPCR	
Phosphorylation measured by flow cytometry	35
Cell membrane fractions	35
Passive systemic anaphylaxis	
Alternaria-induced pulmonary inflammation	

Alternaria-induced Airway Hyperresponsiveness	37
Statistics	38
Results	39
Dual isoprenylation inhibitor FGTI-2734 suppresses IgE-mediated mast cell function Figure 6: Blocking both isoprenylation pathways is required to phenocopy statin effects on IgE-mediated ma	39 ast 42
Figure 7: GGT1- and FT-specific inhibitors GGTI-27417 and FTI-2153 do not reduce cytokine production, ever	1 at
higher concentrations.	43
Figure 8: Isoprenylation inhibitors inhibit there intended targets in mast cells.	44
Figure 9: FGTI-2734 inhibits IgE mediated cytokine production in a dose dependent manor.	45
Figure 10: FGTI-2734 does not induce cell death.	46
Figure 11: FGTI effects are not dependent on genetic background and reduce IgE-mediated degranulation in	а
time-dependent manner.	47
Figure 12: FGTI-2734 reduces IgE-mediated cytokine secretion by peritoneal mast cells.	48
Figure 13: FGTI-2734 treatment reduces IgE induced cytokine production in skin-derived human mast cells.	49
siRNA targeting isoprenylation enzymes phenocopies FGTI-2734 effects.	50
Figure 14: siRNA targeting GGT-1 and FT reduce IgE-mediated degranulation and cytokine production	51
Figure 15: FGTI does not decrease glycolysis, nor does it decrease FccRI or c-KIT receptor expression.	55
Figure 16: FGTI-2734 treatment decreases intracellular cytokine staining.	56
Figure 17: FGTI-2734 reduces cytokine mRNA.	57
Figure 18: FGTI decreases IgE-mediated Ca+ influx.	58
Figure 19: FGTI suppresses FccRI signaling cascades.	59
FGTI-2734 effects may be due to loss of K-Ras localization.	60
Figure 20: FGTI decreases K-Ras isoprenylation and localization to the cell membrane.	61
Figure 21: K-Ras knockdown reduces IgE-mediated activation, mimicking the effects of FGTI-2734	62
Figure 22: N-Ras does not reduce IgE-mediated activation or phenocopy FGTI.	63
FGTI-2734 inhibits IgE-mediated systemic anaphylaxis.	64
Figure 23: FGTI reduces mast cell-dependent anaphylaxis on the C57BL/6J mouse background	65
Figure 24: FGTI-2734 reduces anaphylaxis in statin-resistant 129/SvJ mice.	66
Figure 25: FGTI treatment does not inhibit histamine-induced anaphylaxis.	67
FGTI-2734 reduces inflammation in <i>Alternaria</i> -induced airway inflammation.	68
Figure 26: EGTI reduces Fosinonhil infiltration in model of allergic disease	70
Figure 27: FGTI does not affect neutrophil infiltration.	70
Figure 28: FGTI reduces lung pathology	72
Figure 29: FGTI reduces mast cell protease but not circulating antigen-specific IgF.	73
Figure 30: FGTI reduces ex vivo lymph node simulation.	74
Figure 31: FGTI reduces airway resistance and elastance.	75
Discussion	76
References	82
VITA	an
• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	

# Acknowledgments

I would like to thank Dr. Ryan for his wonderful mentorship and guidance over the last few years. I have learned a lot about science and research but most importantly I have learned how important it is to always win the hallway Christmas party decoration competition (#We won 2022, #SantaFauci). I would also be remiss in not thanking you for the many, many bagels/donuts/BBB snack (~168 over the last few years) and the rescue Cheese-Its and Cokes that got me through some long unplanned nights. I would like to thank the previous lab members Tamara, Marcela, and Kas for passing down skills and techniques that made this work possible. I can't thank my current lab members enough. Thank you, Ann, for always helping out and jamming to T Swift with me; thank you to Destiny for lamenting the CrossFit workout of the day; thank you Jason for being someone I could nerd out about video and board games with. I truly could not have done the last few years without y'all's laughs and help. I would also like to thank our collaborators, especially the members of the Martin and Sebti Labs whose guidance and technical help made these assays much easier. Thank you to my committee members for your expertise and guidance that made this project fun and better than it would have been without you all. Thank you to my friends Grace, Erin, Tiffany, Neeks, Jon, Alys, Roberto, Laura, Aditya, David, Brandon, Dr. LK, Alexis, and Collin for all the support and laughs we have shared over the last few years and many more to come! Thank you so much Sarah for coming into my life at the 9<sup>th</sup> inning for this project for believing in me and supporting me. I could not have done it without you. Finally thank you so to my family for supporting me and encouraging me from day one. I would have never made it this far without it. I did it, Mom and Dad, told you I would be a doctor one day! Thank you all (listed and not listed) for your love and support, this is for y'all.

# Abbreviations

3-hydroxymethyl-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase - HMGCR

Alternaria- ALT

Antigen-induced clustering of IgE-FccRI complexes- crosslinking or IgE XL

Area under the curve- AUC

Bone marrow derived mast cells- BMMC

Dendritic cells- DCs

DNP-coupled human serum albumin- DNP-HSA

Dual farnesyl and geranylgeranyl transferase inhibitor- FGTIs

Extra cellular acidification rate- ECAR

Fluvastatin- FLU

FT inhibitors- FTIs

GGT-1 inhibitors- GGTIs

goblet cells- GBC

Half maximal inhibitory concentration- IC50

Hematoxylin and eosin stain- H&E

Immunoglobulin- Ig

immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motif- ITAM

Low density lipids- LDL

Mouse mast cell proteases- mMCPT

Ovalbumin- OVA

Passive systemic anaphylaxis- PSA

Periodic acid-Schiff stain- PAS

Propidium iodide -PI exclusion

Small interfering RNA- siRNA

T follicular helper cells- Tfh

## Abstract

Allergic disease is the 6<sup>th</sup> leading cause of chronic illness in the US and accounts for billions of dollars in healthcare annually. Mast cells are tissue resident innate immune cells linked to allergic disease and activated by IgE and other ligands. Upon activation, they release histamine, cytokines, chemokines, proteases, and lipid mediators evoking allergic symptoms. New ways of targeting mast cells could greatly benefit allergic disease therapy. Previous findings supported repurposing statin drugs, such as Fluvastatin, as a therapeutic treatment of allergic disease reduced allergic symptoms in vitro and in vivo. We found that Fluvastatin suppressed IgE-mediated mast cell activation by inhibiting isoprenylation of proteins. However, statin suppression is dependent on genetic background. To avert genetic background dependency, we tested the hypothesis that a dual farnesyl and geranylgeranyl transferase inhibitor (FGTI 2734) would suppress allergic disease without having variable efficacy. We show that FGTI 2734 reduced IgE-mediated degranulation and cytokine production similar to Fluvastatin in bone marrow derived mast cells from multiple genetic backgrounds. FGTI-2734 also significantly reduced cytokine production from human derived skin mast cells stimulated through the IgE receptor. We show that FGTI 2734 suppressed a mast cell-dependent model of IgE-mediated anaphylaxis in vivo in multiple genetic backgrounds. Among the >400 proteins targeted by prenylation, Ras family proteins have been shown to play a substantial role in IgEmediated mast cell signaling. We found that loss of K-Ras, but not N-Ras, can mimic the effects of statins on IgE-mediated mast cell activation, suggesting a differential role of K-Ras and N-Ras in mast cell function. We show that in an airway model of allergic disease, FGTI-2734 treatment can significantly reduce airway inflammation and hyperresponsiveness. These data indicated

that dual farnesyl and geranylgeranyl transferase inhibitors may be an effective therapeutic treatment for mast cell-associated diseases.

# Introduction

#### Brief Introduction to the immune system

The immune system is a complex network of cells throughout the body that are essential for the protection and clearance of outside harms such as bacteria, parasites, and toxins. This defense can be broken down into two branches of cells and soluble mediators that have distinct and critical roles, the adaptive and innate immune systems (Fig 1).

The adaptive immune system consists of a pathogen-specific response employing B and T cells. After the first pathogen exposure these cell types can "remember" and respond quickly to subsequent infection by the pathogen. Two subsets of T cells are cytotoxic CD8+ T cells and helper CD4+ T cells. Cytotoxic T cells are important in clearing intracellular pathogens and in cancer cell clearance. They respond to cell-targeted antigen specific activation by releasing granzyme and perforin to kill the infected cell (Raskov et al. 2021). Helper T cells have 3 main subsets Th1, Th2, and Th17. Th1 cells are characterized by being T-bet transcript positive and help in clearance of bacterial infections, through the secretion of IFN-γ, a signature cytokine that activates macrophages and dendritic cells (DCs) (Annunziato et al. 2014). Th17 cells are associated with IL-17 expression and secretion and are important to clearance of bacterial and fungal infections (Tesmer et al. 2008). Th2 cells are characterized by being GATA3 transcript positive and are critical for clearance of parasitic infections.

Despite their critical benefits to the host, adaptive immune cells have pathological potential. Most relevant to the current studies is Th2-driven allergic disease largely caused by these cells producing IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 (Walker and McKenzie 2018). Cytokine release from Th2 cells is associated in allergic disease with cell proliferation, tissue eosinophilia, goblet cell hyperplasia, polarization to an M2 macrophage phenotype that remodels tissues, and smooth muscle contraction in the lungs and gut (Zhu and Paul 2008; Fallon et al. 2002).

T follicular helper cells (Tfh) secrete IL-21 and are associated with B cell activation in lymph node germinal centers (Crotty 2019). Tfh also express CD40L that activates antigenspecific B cells via CD40 (Wishnie et al. 2021). In allergic disease Tfh2 and Tfh13 induce B cell class switching to IgE (Zhu and Paul 2008; Fallon et al. 2002. B cells produce immunoglobulin (Ig) specific to an antigen peptide. These Igs help in opsonization and eliminate pathogens in an antigen-specific manner. Activated B cells produce immunoglobulin M (IgM) and can be promoted by secondary signals such as IL-4 to undergo Ig class switching. IgM is the first antibody produced and is the primary immunoglobulin response (Schroeder and Cavacini 2010). IgG subclasses are important for secondary response, neutralizing toxins and clearing of viruses (Schroeder and Cavacini 2010; Vidarsson, Dekkers, and Rispens 2014). IgA is important in responding and clearing mucosal infections (Schroeder and Cavacini 2010; Pabst and Slack 2020; Breedveld and van Egmond 2019). IgE is important in parasitic infections and allergic disease (Schroeder and Cavacini 2010; Gould and Sutton 2008).

The adaptive immune response is slow to develop taking about 7 days to activate upon the first antigen exposure of a new pathogen. During this time the innate immune system plays a critical role, responding within the first few hours to days of an infection. The innate immune system consists of tissue resident cells such as: dendritic cells, macrophages, and mast cells; and circulating cells such as neutrophils, eosinophils, and basophils that once a pathogen is present are trafficked from the blood into the tissue. Dendritic cells are classically identified recognized by CD11c<sup>+</sup> in murine cells and are important in antigen presentation by MHCII to

naïve CD4 T cells and induction of CD4 T cell subset differentiation (Zanna et al. 2021). Dendritic cells have also been shown to cross present to CD8 T cells and activate them using MHC I. Macrophages are characterized by CD11b and F4/80 dual positivity, and are important to phagocytosis and pathogen clearance (Ross, Devitt, and Johnson 2021). Neutrophils are characterized by CD11b and Ly6G markers, and are the first cell type to be recruited to an infection, they are critical to the release of reactive oxygen species and hydrolytic enzymes, and clearance of bacterial and fungal infections (Németh, Sperandio, and Mócsai 2020). Basophils are identified by the cell surface markers CCR3 and CD123 as well as CD63 and CD203 when activated and are important to hypersensitivity and anaphylactic reaction (Chirumbolo 2012; Kim et al. 2016). Mast cells and eosinophils are important to parasitic infection clearance and are the hallmark cell type in allergic response. Eosinophils are charactered by the presence of SiglecF and CCR3 cell markers and are maturation, activated, and survival by IL-5. These cell types release a large quantity of granule proteins and chemical mediators that are important in clearing parasitic infection but in allergic disease can cause tissue damage and remodeling (Abdala-Valencia et al. 2018). Mast cells express c-Kit, ST2 (the IL-33 receptor), and the high affinity IgE receptor, FccRI. IgE-mediated mast cell function is critical for killing parasites and degrading toxins or venoms (Galli et al. 2016).

All these cell types play a key role in the immune system and its protection from infection (Fig 2).



Figure 1: Cell lineage of the Immune cells. The immune system is made up of a complex

system of cells derived from the bone marrow. These cells make up the innate (myeloid derived cells in yellow) and adaptive cells (lymphocyte derived cells in blue).



#### Figure 2: Pathogen exposure causes activation of the innate and adaptive

immune system. Initial pathogen exposure such as bacteria, viruses, and parasites causes immediate activation of tissue resident cells. Once activated these cells help clear the pathogens but also release chemokines and cytokines to recruit circulating immune cells to the cite of infection. Resident dendritic cells uptake pathogen antigen to present on MHC II+ and traffic to the drain lymph node to activate corresponding T cells. Antigen specific T cells will then traffic out of the draining lymph node back to the site of infection. T cells then help to activate corresponding B cells to release immunoglobulins.

#### Brief Introduction allergic disease and asthma

Allergic asthma is estimated to effect >25 million individuals in the United States and have an estimated cost in the United States of \$82 billion in 2013(To et al. 2012; Nurmagambetov, Kuwahara, and Garbe 2018). It is characterized by Th2-type lung inflammation, excessive mucus production, and airway hyperresponsiveness, remodeling, and obstruction. Allergic asthma can be induced by common allergens such as house dust mite or fungal allergens (Salo et al. 2006; Li et al. 2014). These allergens induce a Th2-type inflammation and elicit IgE production(Kobayashi et al. 2009; Li et al. 2014).

Current treatments rely heavily on avoidance of allergen and reducing allergic response with drugs such as antihistamines and corticosteroids (Damask et al. 2021). Patients with nonsevere asthma can rely on short acting  $\beta$ 2 agonists and low does inhaled corticosteroids as effective controllers and relievers of symptoms with little to no side effects (Sobieraj and Baker 2018). For severe asthmatics the options are limited to oral corticosteroids, which have negative side effects, and are not effective at maintaining control of asthma in all patients. A more recent option is monoclonal antibody therapies which also have negative side effects and are not feasible for most people due to high cost and frequent doctor visits for infusions (Currie, Douglas, and Heaney 2009). For these reasons, it is imperative to continue to study new possible therapies and therapeutic targets.

There is evidence for mast cell involvement in asthma, including pulmonary mast cell hyperplasia along with high levels of leukotrienes, tryptase, chymase, and histamine in the sputum and bronchial alveolar lavage fluid of asthmatics (Broide et al. 1991; Brightling et al. 2002; Wang et al. 2015) (Fig 3). In addition, one of the most promising therapy Omalizumab

which inhibits IgE is effective in more than 50% of asthma cases(Godse et al. 2015). Thus, targeting IgE-mediated mast cell activation has therapeutic benefits and will increase our understanding of allergic asthma (Martin et al. 1993; Bousquet et al. 2004).



#### Figure 3: Continued allergen exposure leads to exacerbation of asthma. Repeated

allergen exposure in the lungs activates mast cells by FccRI crosslinking with antigen-specific IgE. These mast cells degranulate and release preformed mediators, which recruit cells such as eosinophils and cause goblet cells to produce and release mucus. The increase in cells cause increased inflammation, tissue damage, and lung remodeling. Release of preformed mediators such as histamine cause vasodilation and bronchoconstriction.

### Mast cells and their roles in allergic disease

Mast cells were named by Paul Ehrlich in 1878, although they were first noted 15 years before by von Recklinghausen (Blank, Falcone, and Nilsson 2013). Ehrlich noted these cells contained tightly packed granular vesicles that he inferred were linked to cellular feeding/ingestion and named them "mastzellen" or "feeding cells" (Beaven 2009). These cellular granules where later shown to contain preformed mediators such as histamine, proteases, and lysosomal enzymes that play a key role in anaphylaxis and allergic disease symptomology (Moon, Befus, and Kulka 2014). Mast cells also release arachidonic acid metabolites that cause inflammation. Once released, prostaglandins and leukotrienes cause redness, swelling, pain, and increase contractile and inflammatory responses through specific interactions with G protein coupled receptors (Ricciotti and FitzGerald 2011; Singh et al. 2013). Finally, mast cells also produce key cytokines and chemokines. For example, they secrete IL-5, important in eosinophil activation, IL-13 that promotes mucus production (Tukler Henriksson et al. 2015), TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6 that have critical roles in vasodilation and leukocyte recruitment (Popko et al. 2010). Chemokines such as MCP-1 and MIP-1 $\alpha$  are also produced and are important in the trafficking of macrophages and monocytes which perpetuate the inflammatory process (Desireddi et al. 2008).

There are two subtypes of mouse mast cells, connective tissue mast cells and mucosal mast cells. Their analogous pairs in humans are termed  $MC_{TC}$  (connective tissue) and  $MC_{T}$  (mucosal), indicating their production of tryptase and chymase enzymes. Connective tissue and  $MC_{TC}$  mast cells are mostly found in the submucosa of the gut, the peritoneum, and skin, while the mucosal and  $MC_{T}$  mast cells are predominately in the intestinal and lung mucosa

(Kurashima and Kiyono 2014). While these subtypes are activated by many of the same stimuli, their preformed mediators differ. Connective tissue mast cells produces high levels of mast cell proteases (mMCP)-4,5,6,&7 but not mMCP-1 and -2 (Xing et al. 2011). Mucosal mast cells express mMCP-1 and -2 but not mMCP-4, 5, & 6 (Li et al. 2018; Kataoka et al. 2005). Of note, bone marrow derived mast cells (BMMC), a common in vitro-derived population from which much of our data are derived, tend to have a mucosal phenotype (Akula et al. 2020).

Mast cells can be activated by many stimuli including cytokines released as danger signals (IL-33) and damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) such as ATP, ADP, and AMP (Krystel-Whittemore, Dileepan, and Wood 2015). In allergic disease, mast cells have been best characterized in antigen-specific recognition by IgE bound to its high affinity receptor, FccRI (Fig. 4). FccRI is composed  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ , and  $\gamma$  chains (Kinet 1999). The  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$  chains both contain an immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motif (ITAM) in their cytoplasmic domain. Antigeninduced clustering of IgE-FccRI complexes (referred to as crosslinking or XL) activates preassociated Lyn kinase, which then recruits and phosphorylates Syk kinase (Kovárová et al. 2001). This sets off a cascade of signaling leading to rapid release of granule mediators in seconds to minutes, an intermediate generation and release of prostaglandins, leukotrienes, and eicosanoids though cPLA2-mediated arachidonic acid metabolism within an hour, and delayed production and release of cytokines and chemokines within several hours. The signaling cascade is depicted in Figure 4 but in brief, Syk activation leads to LAT phosphorylation, which acts as a docking protein for PLC<sub>Y</sub>. PLC<sub>Y</sub> promotes a calcium influx that prompts degranulation (Lee and Oliver 1995). Syk also phosphorylates PI3K, which leads to AKT phosphorylation, promoting both degranulation and cytokine production (Takayama et al.

2013). Phosphorylation of LAT allows for binding of Grb2 and SOS which then activates the classical Ras/Raf-1/MEK/ERK signaling cascade leading to cytokine transcription (Turner and Cantrell 1997). Ras activation has also been linked to PI3K activation and important roles in cytoskeleton remodeling, a key component of degranulation (Dráber, Sulimenko, and Dráberová 2012). ERK phosphorylates cPLA2 and hence leads to the arachidonic acid cleavage and eicosanoids production (Taketomi and Murakami 2022; Lin et al. 1993). Collectively this protein-driven cascade controls FccRI signaling and mast cell function in allergic disease.



Figure 4: FccRI signaling during antigen specific IgE crosslinking in the presence of allergen. Once crosslinked, FccRI  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$  ITAM subunits become phosphorated leading to a cascade of signaling that causes Degranulation, arachidonic acid release, and cytokine production.

#### Statins as a potential therapy

Statins are one of the most prescribed drugs in America and the leading therapy for hypercholesterolemia to reduce cardiovascular morbidity and mortality (Sirtori 2014). The first statin to be described, Mevastatin, was derived from Penicillium Citrinium extract in the 1970s by Akira Endo (Endo, Kuroda, and Tsujita 1976; Endo 2010). Since then, three other statins (pravastatin, simvastatin, and lovastatin) have been derived from the fermentation of fungi and five have been synthesized chemically (atorvastatin, vervastatin, pitavastatin, fluvastatin, and rosuvastatin) (Hoffman et al. 1986; Lee et al. 1991; Tulbah 2020). Statins work by blocking the rate limiting step of cholesterol synthesis, mediated by 3-hydroxymethyl-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase (HMGCR) (Ramkumar, Raghunath, and Raghunath 2016). By lowing cholesterol synthesis, this class of drugs effectively reduces the circulating levels of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (Fig. 5). Reduced circulating cholesterol was reason for the drugs' effectiveness in reducing cardiovascular morbidity and mortality (Greenwood, Steinman, and Zamvil 2006). Over the last decade however, many studies have found that statin effects may actually be attributed to their ability to reduce inflammation (Montecucco et al. 2009; Diamantis et al. 2017). One meta-analysis study found that statin use in patients with sepsis and other infections had a positive correlation to a protective outcome (Janda et al. 2010). More important for our work in allergic disease, 3 large (10,000+ patient) studies found that increasing both dose and duration of statin use reduced asthma-related emergency department and hospitalizations visits (Wang et al. 2018; Tse et al. 2013; Huang et al. 2011). Finally, one study using a mouse model of allergic airway inflammation and airway hyperreactivity showed that simvastatin reduced the inflammatory phenotype seen in the model (Zeki et al. 2009).

These studies reveal a relevant role for the use of statins in reducing inflammation and allergic disease.

While the anti-inflammatory effects could be from lowering circulating LDL, which itself has proinflammatory effects, others have found statin effects to be from their ability to modulate the immune response (Quist-Paulsen 2010; Kim et al. 2019). Link et al. found that 20mg/day of rosuvastatin therapy could reduce Th-1 related TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$  levels (Link et al. 2006). Other studies have found that statin treatments can reduce dendritic cell, T cell, mast cell, and macrophage activation both in vivo and in vitro, independent of circulating LDL reduction (Kolawole et al. 2016; Paez et al. 2020; Yilmaz et al. 2004; Forero-Peña and Gutierrez 2013; Healy et al. 2020). We previously showed that fluvastatin can reduce mast cell activation. Fluvastatin reduced IgE-mediated degranulation and cytokine production both in vivo and in vitro (Kolawole et al. 2016). This study also found that statin effects were not phenocopied by inhibiting cholesterol synthesis alone. We also noted that some mouse strains were resistant to fluvastatin effects by upregulating HMGCR expression when treated with fluvastatin. These data were mirrored by variable fluvastatin responses among human derived skin mast cells from 8 different donors. A reduction in statin efficacy has been shown by others to be linked to a gene variant that is regulated by cholesterol concentrations, with lower cholesterol levels leading to increased HMGCR expression (Reiner 2014; Ness, Chambers, and Lopez 1998; Chasman et al. 2004). This variability in statin's ability to reduce allergic inflammation depending on genetic background reduces its possible therapeutic utility. For this reason, further study into the mechanism in which statins reduce inflammation and allergic disease

needs to be further explored. We postulated that studying how statins reduce IgE-mediated mast cell activation could lead to novel therapeutic options.



**Figure 5:** Cholesterol synthesis pathway. Statins reduce cholesterol synthesis by inhibiting the rate limiting step HMGCR. Along with cholesterol synthesis statins also inhibit isoprenylation, a key protein lipid modification that allows >400 proteins to localize to cell membranes for various signaling pathways. Isoprenylation inhibitors FTIs, GGTIs, and FGTIs inhibit the lipid modification of small GTPases such as Ras and Rho family proteins.

#### Isoprenylation

One important intermediate of the cholesterol biosynthesis pathway that could explain the effects of statins on the immune system is the isoprenylation of proteins (Fig. 5) (Jeong et al. 2018). Isoprenylation is the addition of a 15-carbon chain by enzyme farnesyl transferase (FT) or 20-carbon chain by enzyme geranylgeranyl transferase (GGT-1) to the C terminus of a protein with a CAAX motif (Casey and Seabra 1996). The CAAX motif is a sequence where C is a cysteine, A is any aliphatic amino acid, and X is any amino acid – although FT prefers methionine and GGT-1 prefers leucine at this last position. A third transferase protein, geranylgeranyl transferase type-2 (GGT-2), adds two 20-carbon chain to proteins ending in a CCAX motif, typically members of the Rab protein family (Kalinin et al. 2001). Isoprenylation is crucial for over 400 proteins' ability to associate with the phospholipid bilayer of membranes (Berndt, Hamilton, and Sebti 2011; Casey and Seabra 1996; Wang and Casey 2016).

There are data to support a role for isoprenylation in allergic disease. When treating plasmacytoid dendritic cells with statins, it was found that they produced significantly less type 1 IFN when stimulated with TSLP, an important step in a Th2 allergic response. Statin treatment reduced the phosphorylation of STAT6 and NFkB and could be mimicked by use of geranylgeranyl inhibitors and Rho inhibitors, suggesting a role for geranylgeranylation of Rho proteins in TSLP DC activation (Inagaki-Katashiba et al. 2019). The effects of isoprenylation blockade have also been linked to airway remodeling in allergic disease. Takeda et al. found that clinically relevant doses of simvastatin reduced remodeling of smooth airway muscle, a phenotype they linked to blocking isoprenylation of RhoA proteins (Takeda et al. 2006). In IgE-mediated mast cell function, it was found that fluvastatin reduced activation by reducing

isoprenylation and could be phenocopied by a geranylgeranyl transferase inhibitor (Kolawole et al. 2016). These studies, along with others in T cells, show an important role for isoprenylation, a side reaction of the cholesterol synthesis pathway inhibited by statins, in inflammation and allergic disease (Srikanth et al. 2016).

The potential anti-inflammatory and anti-proliferative effects of blocking isoprenylation have spurred drug development. These include specific inhibitors in development, in pre-clinical trials, in clinical trials, and a few isoprenylation inhibitors already FDA-approved (Karasic et al. 2019; Van Cutsem et al. 2004). There are four classes of isoprenylation inhibitors: GGT-2 inhibitors, GGT-1 inhibitors (GGTIs), FT inhibitors (FTIs), and dual farnesyl and geranylgeranyl transferase inhibitors (FGTIs) which inhibit both GGT-1 and FT. These specific inhibitors work as peptide mimics of the CAAX box recognized by farnesyl and/or geranylgeranyl transferases. These classes of inhibitors have been highly studied and developed for possible cancer therapies, with the newest iterations of these drugs being highly selective for their targets (Storck et al. 2019; Berndt, Hamilton, and Sebti 2011). These inhibitors offer a new possibly in isoprenylation inhibition and related therapeutic options. In this study we will be focusing on the inhibition of farnesyl transferase and geranylgeranyl transferase by GGTIs, FTIs, and FGTIs.

### Ras, Rac, Rho family proteins in mast cell activation

Understanding how isoprenylation of specific proteins affects IgE-mediated mast cell activation will elucidate fundamental aspects of mast cell biology. Over 400 unique proteins are either farnesylated or geranylgeranylated; notably Rab, Ras, and Rho family proteins (Storck et al. 2019). In particular, Ras family proteins have been linked to mast cell signaling, while Rho family proteins have been linked to mast cell cytoskeleton remodeling (Baier et al. 2014; Sheshachalam, Baier, and Eitzen 2017). The previous research for Ras's involvement in IgE signaling was demonstrated in both mouse and human mast cells (Turner and Cantrell 1997; Mor et al. 2010). One Ras isoform, K-Ras, has been shown to play a substantial role in mast cell survival and activation in c-KIT signaling (Khalaf et al. 2007). Transcript data from mouse mast cells show that mast cells can express K-Ras, N-Ras, and H-Ras (Dwyer, Barrett, and Austen 2016). Previous studies have shown that K-Ras and N-Ras, while preferentially farnesylated, can also be geranylgeranylated under conditions lacking farnesylation. In contrast, H-Ras has only been shown to be geranylgeranylated (Berndt, Hamilton, and Sebti 2011). Once Ras is activated, it signals through the classical Ras/Raf-1/MEK/ERK signaling cascade (Fang et al. 2012; Yamasaki and Saito 2008) (Fig. 4). Ras has also been linked to regulating PI3K activation in FccRI signaling, were Ras activation leads to PI3K phosphorylation and subsequent cytoskeleton reorganization and mast cell degranulation (Dráber, Sulimenko, and Dráberová 2012). Rho family proteins, which are generally isoprenylated by GGT-1, have a substantial role in IgEmediated mast cell activation. Rho proteins include the Rac subfamily. Rac2 is a key player in cytoskeleton remodeling crucial to mast cell degranulate and histamine H4 Receptor-mediated chemotaxis (Baier et al. 2014; Kuramasu et al. 2018; Yang et al. 2000). Another Rho family protein of note is cdc42 which also promotes degranulation and chemotaxis (Hong-Geller et al. 2001).

Because Ras and Rho family proteins have been shown to play a role in FccRI signaling, it stands to reason that targeting isoprenylation would reduce FccRI signaling and mast cell

function in allergic disease. In this study, we will be testing isoprenylation inhibitors for their ability to reduce IgE-mediated mast cell function in vitro and in vivo.

# Methods

## Animals

Mouse strains C57BL/6J, 129/SvJ, and BALB/cJ breeding pairs were purchased from The Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME). Breeding colonies were maintained in a specific pathogen-free facility. Experiments used age- and sex-matched mice housed in the same facility. Bone marrow was extracted from mice at a minimum of 8 weeks old and *in vivo* models were conducted on mice older than 12 weeks under protocol approval from the Virginia Commonwealth University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee.

## Mouse mast cells

Mouse bone marrow-derived mast cells (BMMCs) were developed by culturing bone marrow from femurs in complete RPMI (cRPMI) 1640 medium (Invitrogen Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA) containing the following purchased from Corning (Corning, NY): 10% FBS, 2mM L-glutamine, 100 U/ml penicillin, 100 ug/ml streptomycin, 1mM sodium pyruvate, and 1 mM HEPES. Cultures were supplemented with supernatant from IL-3-producing WEHI-3B cells and recombinant SCF, to contain IL-3 and SCF at a final concertation of 1 and 10ng/ml, respectively. BMMC were used after at least 21 days of culture and consisted of >95% mast cells based on cell surface staining for c-Kit and FccRI.

Peritoneal mast cells were obtained from peritoneal cavity lavage with PBS containing 1 mM EDTA. Cells where cultured in the same media used for BMMCs for no longer than 2 weeks. Cultures contained for >95% of c-Kit- and  $Fc\epsilon RI$ -positive cells.

## Human skin MC cultures

All protocols involving human tissues were approved by the Institutional Review Board at Virginia Commonwealth University. Cells were cultured as previously described (Kambe et al. 2001). Human skin mast cells were cultured with vehicle or drugs as described.

### Cytokines and reagents

Recombinant mouse IL-3 and SCF were purchased from Shenandoah Biotechnology (Warwick, PA) for in vitro studies. Purified mouse IgE anti-DNP for in vitro activation (clone C38-2, κ isotype) was purchased from BD Biosciences (San Diego, CA). Mouse anti-DNP IgE for in vivo use was produced from a hybridoma line (H1 $\epsilon$ 26) and purified by HPLC. Propidium iodide, fluvastatin, and DNP-coupled human serum albumin (DNP-HSA) were from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO). Antibodies against N-Ras (sc-31), HDJ2 (sc-59554), pggt1b (sc-376854), FT $\alpha$  (sc-23906) and Rap1a (sc-1482) were obtained from Santa-Cruz (Dallas, TX). Antibodies against CD107a (cat 121614), CD63 (cat 143904), TNFα (cat 506327), IL-6 (cat 504508), c-Kit (cat 105827), FccRI (cat 134316), and p-p38 (cat 690203) obtained from BioLegend. p-SRC (cat 560094), p-ERK (cat 612592), p-AKT (cat 562599), and p-JNK (cat 562480) where obtained from BD Biosciences (Franklin Lakes, NJ). Anti-K-Ras (H00003845) was obtained from Abnova. Anti-Bactin (84575) was obtained from Cell Signaling. Histamine was obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO). OVA-HSA was obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO). Alternaria alternata was obtained from Greer Labs (Lenoir, NC). siRNAs for N-Ras (sc-36005), K-Ras (sc-43876), and scramble control were obtained from Santa Cruz (Dallas, TX). siRNAs for pgqt1b (GGT; SIO1376228, SIO1376221, SIO1376207, and SIO1376207) and *fnta* (FT; SIO1004360, SIO1004353,

SI01004339, SI01004346) were obtained from Qiagen (Redwood City, CA). IC Fixation buffer and permeabilization buffer were purchased from Thermofisher. 10% formaldehyde was obtained from Macron Fine Chemicals. GolgiStop was obtained from BD Biosciences (Franklin Lakes, NJ). Cell Tak was purchased from Millipore Sigma (St. Louis, MO). Zombie aqua was purchased from BioLegend (San Diego, CA).

## FTI2153, GGTI-2417 and FGTI-2734

Farnesyl transferase inhibitor (FTI-2153) and geranylgeranyl transferase inhibitor (GGTI-2417), were synthesized as described previously (Sun et al. 1999; Peng et al. 2006) by the Chemical Biology core facility at the Moffitt Cancer Center. The dual farnesyl and geranylgeranyl transferase inhibitor, FGTI-2734, was either purchased from MedChem Express (Monmouth Junction, NJ) or synthesized by the chemical biology core facility at the Moffitt Cancer Center as described previously(Fletcher et al. 2010).

### Secreted Cytokine measurements

BMMCs were sensitized overnight with DNP-specific mouse IgE (0.5  $\mu$ g/ml), then washed and resuspended 1x10<sup>6</sup> cells/ml in cRPMI with IL-3 and SCF (10 ng/ml). Cells were treated with the indicated inhibitors for 24hrs and stimulated with DNP-HSA (50 ng/ml) for 16hrs unless otherwise indicated. Supernatants were measured for IL-6, TNF $\alpha$ , and MCP-1 content using ELISA kits from Biolegend (San Diego, CA). IL-13 and MIP-1 $\alpha$  using ELISA kits from Peprotech (Rocky Hill, NJ). ELISAs were developed using BD OptEIA regents from BD Biosciences (Franklin Lakes, NJ). Human mast cells were cultured in AIM-V serum-free medium with 100 ng/ml of recombinant human SCF (100 ng/ml) at  $1\times10^6$  cells/ml and treated with either FGTI-2734 (2.5µM) or DMSO for 24hrs. Cells were then activated with anti-FccRI (22E7 mAb; 1µg/ml) for 16hrs. TNF $\alpha$ , MCP1, and GM-CSF levels were measured by ELISAs from Peprotech (Rocky Hill, NJ). ELISAs were developed using BD OptEIA regents from BD Biosciences (Franklin Lakes, NJ).

### Degranulation

BMMCs were sensitized overnight with DNP-specific mouse IgE (0.5 µg/ml), then washed and resuspended 1x10<sup>6</sup> cells/ml in cRPMI with IL-3 and SCF (10 ng/ml). Cells were treated with the indicated inhibitors for 24hrs unless otherwise indicated and stimulated with DNP-HSA (50 ng/ml) for 15 minutes, then stained for CD107a and CD63 on ice for 30 minutes. Flow cytometry where gated by single cell exclusion using FSC-H and FSC-A and then isotype controls were used to set gates for CD107a and CD63 positive cells. MFI and percent positive where then measured by flow cytometry using a BD FACSCelesta.

Human mast cells were cultured in AIM-V serum-free medium with 100 ng/ml of recombinant human SCF (100 ng/ml) at 1x10<sup>6</sup> cells/ml and treated with either FGTI-2734 (5μM) or DMSO for 24hrs. Cells were then activated with anti-FccRI (22E7 mAb; 1µg/ml) for 30 minutes. Activation was stopped by adding three volumes of ice-cold PBS. The cells were centrifuged at 1000 rpm for 10 min at 4°C. Supernatants were transferred into a separate tube. Cell pellets were resuspended in PBS, sonicated in a Branson sonifier (model 350; power 5, 50% pulse cycle 4 pulses) and microfuged. Beta-hexosaminidase was assayed by measuring release

of p-nitrophenol from the substrate p-nitrophenyl N-acetyl-D-glucosaminide as described (Zhao et al. 2005). Absorbance values were read at 405 nm.

## Propidium iodide staining

To determine cell viability, BMMCs were sensitized overnight with DNP-specific mouse IgE (0.5  $\mu$ g/ml), then washed and resuspended 1x10<sup>6</sup> cells/ml in cRPMI with IL-3 and SCF (10 ng/ml). Cells were treated with the indicated inhibitors for 36hrs, then stained with propidium iodine (10  $\mu$ g/ml) and fluorescence was measured using a BD FACSCelesta. Gating strategy was as follows: Cells where gated by single cell exclusion using FSC-H and FSC-A and then non-stained cells were used for isotype controls for gating PI positive populations.

## siRNA gene targeting

BMMCs were transfected with 2 μM siRNAs specific for the target or scramble control sequences. Transfection experiments were done using 1) Amaxa Nucleofector from Lonza (Allendale, NJ) using program T-5 in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium with 20% FBS and 50 mM HEPES (pH 7.5) or 2) Neon transfection system by ThermoFisher, where cells were electroporated using 1450 V 10 ms and 1 pulse setting in buffer T at 1x106 cells per transfection. Cells were used 48 hours after being transfected, with successful inhibition verified by Western blotting for proteins.

## Western Blot

Western blot analysis was performed as described previously(Fernando et al. 2013). Blots were visualized and quantified using a LiCor Odyssey CLx infrared imaging system (Lincoln, NE). In

brief: protein concertation was measured using ThermoFisher kit Peirce BCA Protein Assay Kit (Ref 23227), 40ug per lane was loaded and 4-20% or 15% (only used for HDJ-2 blots) SDS page gel (BioRad) was used for gel electrophoresis. Proteins where then transferred for 45 minutes at 25 V onto nitrocellulose paper. Blots then blocked for 30 minutes with 50% Casein buffer in TPBS. Membranes where then incubated with apparated antibody concentrations as recemented by manufactures overnight in 4 degrees C (except  $\beta$ -actin which was incubate for 1hrs at room temp). Membranes were washed and then incubated with appropriate secondary antibody for 1hr.

## Intracellular cytokine staining

BMMCs were sensitized overnight with DNP-specific mouse IgE (0.5  $\mu$ g/ml), then washed and resuspended 1x10<sup>6</sup> cells/ml in cRPMI with IL-3 and SCF (10ng/ml). Cells were treated with the indicated inhibitors for 24 hours then stimulated with DNP-HSA (50 ng/ml) for 90 minutes at 37°C in a CO<sub>2</sub> incubator. Golgistop (BD science) was added for an additional 4hrs. Cells where then fixed with IC Fixation buffer (ThermoFisher) for 20 minutes, washed twice and permeabilized with PermBuffer (ThermoFisher), and then stained overnight at 4°C with anticytokine antibodies and measured by flow cytometry the next day. Gating strategy was as follows: cells where gated by single cell exclusion using FSC-H and FSC-A and then isotype controls were used to set gates for IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$  positive cells.

## Seahorse metabolic flux analysis

BMMCs were sensitized overnight with DNP-specific mouse IgE (0.5  $\mu$ g/ml), then washed and resuspended 1x10<sup>6</sup> cells/ml in cRPMI with IL-3 and SCF (10 ng/ml). Cells were treated with the indicated inhibitors for 24 hours then resuspended in RPMI media without SCF/IL-3 (Agilent, Santa Clara, CA). The media contained glucose (10mM), pyruvate (1mM), L-glutamine (2 mM), and 1% FBS and adhered to wells with Cell Tak (3.45  $\mu$ g/ml) at 200,000 cells/well for 45 minutes. The protocol included 3 readings every 3 minutes for baseline, 5 readings every 3 minutes after SCF/IL-3 (10 ng/ml) injection, and 5 readings every 3 minutes after DNP-HSA (50 ng/ml) injection.

### RT-qPCR

RNA was harvested from BMMCs stimulated with DNP-HSA for 4 hours using TRIzol reagent (Life Technologies, Grand Island, NY). Nucleic acid purity was measured using a Nanodrop 1000 UV-Vis Spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific, Waltham MA). To measure mRNA expression, cDNA was synthesized using the qScript cDNA Synthesis Kit (Quanta Biosciences, Beverly Hills, CA) following the manufacturer's protocol. qPCR analysis was performed with Bio Rad CFX96 Touch<sup>™</sup> Real-Time PCR Detection System and SYBR<sup>®</sup> Green detection using a relative Livak Method. Reactions consisted of a heat-activation step at 95°C for 10 minutes followed by 40 cycles of 95°C for 15 seconds, 55°C for 30 seconds and 60°C for 1 minute. Fluorescence data were collected during the extension step of the reaction. Primers used included: IL-6 (forward: 5′TCCAGTTGCCTTCTTGGGAC3′, reverse: TCCAGTTGCCTTCTTGGGAC3′), β-actin (forward: 5′GATGACGATATCGCTGCGC3′, Reverse: 5′CTCGTCACCCACATAGGAGTC3′) and IL-13 (forward: ATGGCGTCTGGGTGACTGCAGTCC′, Reverse: GAAGGGGCGTGGCGAAACAGTTGC)

## Phosphorylation measured by flow cytometry

BMMCs were sensitized overnight with DNP-specific mouse IgE (0.5 µg/ml), then washed and resuspended 1x10<sup>6</sup> cells/ml in cRPMI with IL-3 and SCF (10 ng/ml). Cells were treated with the indicated inhibitors for 24hrs. Cells were stimulated with DNP-HSA (50 ng/ml) for indicated times (0, 1, 5, 15, or 30 minutes) then collected and fixed using 4% formaldehyde (Macron Fine Chemicals) for 20 minutes. Cells where permeabilized (PermBuffer ThermoFisher) and stained for phosphorylated proteins overnight at 4 C. Mean fluorescence intensity was measured by flow cytometry. Gating strategy was as follows: cells where gated by single cell exclusion using FSC-H and FSC-A and then isotype IgG controls were used to set gates for p-SRC, p-ATK, p-P38, and p-JNK positive cells.

## Cell membrane fractions

BMMCs where treated with inhibitors for 24hrs (40 million cells per sample) and lysed with hypotonic lysis buffer (20 mM Tris 8.0, 1mM MgCl<sub>2</sub> and protease inhibitors) on ice for 20 minutes. Cells further lysed with Dounce homogenizer until 80-90% of cells are lysed (checked via trypan blue). NaCl (0.15 M) was added, the solution was mixed gently, then spun at 400g for 10 minutes to remove nuclei and unlysed cells. Lysates where then ultracentrifuged at 32.7K for 1hr (100,000xg). Supernatant cytosolic proteins and pellet containing membrane-associated proteins was harvested. Protein fractions were then measured by western blot, compared by using equal amounts of protein.
#### Passive systemic anaphylaxis

Mice were weighed and then administered 1mg/kg doses of FGTI-2734 or equivalent dilution of DMSO in 200µL of PBS via intraperitoneal (i.p.) injections, followed by 200µL PBS containing 50µg mouse IgE anti-DNP. The following day, mice were again administered 200µL PBS containing 1mg/kg of FGTI-2734 or DMSO equivalent 2 hours before DNP-HSA (50µg) was administered via i.p. injection. In some experiments, 2mg histamine was injected in place of DNP-HSA. The core body temperature of each mouse was measured using a rectal microprobe (Physitemp Instruments, Clifton, NJ). Mice were euthanized and blood was collected by cardiac puncture to analyze plasma.

### Alternaria-induced pulmonary inflammation

Mice where sensitized with 30µl PBS containing OVA (100µg/mouse) +/- Alternaria alternata extract (10µg/mouse) via intranasal (i.n.) route on days 0 and 7. Mice were treated with FGTI-2734 (1 mg/kg) or equivalent dilutions of vehicle (40% w/v 2-hydroxypropyl-B-cyclodextrin (Sigma) in sterile water) in 30 µl via i.n. route on days 12-16. Challenge by OVA (50µg/mouse) +/- Alternaria (5µg/mouse) in 30 µl i.n. on days 14-16. Mice were euthanized on day 17. Blood was collected by cardiac puncture and bronchiolar lavage was collected by flushing the lungs twice with 800 µl of PBS with 0.5 mM EDTA.

The left lung was excised, fixed, and stained with H&E and PAS for histology. Histology staining for H&E and PAS was done by StageBio (Mt. Jackson, VA) and samples were scored blinded. PAS scores: 0= no goblet cells (GBC), 1=<25%, 2= 25-50%, 3=51-75%, and 4= > 75% of

epithelial lining are GBC; H&E scores: 0= no cell infiltration in alveoli/bronchi space, 1=<25%, 2= 25-50%, 3=51-75%, and 4= > 75% cell infiltration in alveoli/bronchi space.

The right lung was extracted and homogenized by incubating at 37C for 30 minutes in DNase (10mg/ml, Worthington) and Liberase TM (5mg/ml, Roche) to digest the lungs. Single cell suspension was used to analyze cell types via flow cytometry. Cell types from lung and BALF were analyzed using flow cytometry with gating on single cells (doublet exclusion), live cells (Zombie aqua negative). Eosinophils were detected as double positive for CCR3 and SiglecF; Neutrophils as double positive for CD11b and Ly6G.

Single cell suspensions of the mediastinal lymph node (from individual mice) were resuspended in cRPMI and activated with 300  $\mu$ g/ml OVA for 3 days. Supernatants were then analyzed for IL-13 and IL-5 levels by ELISA.

### Alternaria-induced Airway Hyperresponsiveness

Mice where sensitized with 30μl PBS containing OVA (100ug/mouse) +/- *Alternaria alternata* extract (10ug/mouse) via intranasal (i.n.) route on days 0 and 10. Mice were treated with FGTI-2734 (5 mg/kg) or equivalent dilutions of vehicle (40% w/v 2-hydroxypropyl-B-cyclodextrin (Sigma) in sterile water) in 30 μl via i.n. route on days 18-23. Challenge by OVA (50ug/mouse) +/- *Alternaria* (5ug/mouse) in 30 μl i.n. on days 20-23. Airway hyperresponsiveness was measured by FlexiVent with increasing doses of methacholine (5, 10, 25, 50, 100 mg/ml).

# Statistics

p values were calculated with GraphPad Prism software v9 by paired or unpaired two-tailed Student's t-test when comparing 2 samples. For a comparison of 3 or more samples, ANOVA was performed followed by Tukey's post hoc test. P values of <0.05 were considered statistically significant. Data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard error of mean (SEM) with statistical significance: \*p< .05, \*\*p< .01, \*\*\*p< .001, \*\*\*\*p<.0001. Biological replicates for in vitro experiments were BMMC populations derived from separate mice. Technical replicates are samples from the same cultures or mice analyzed in replicates.

# Results

# Dual isoprenylation inhibitor FGTI-2734 suppresses IgEmediated mast cell function.

Previously, we showed that fluvastatin significantly reduced IgE-mediated mast cell function by inhibiting protein isoprenylation (Kolawole et al. 2016). Statins such as fluvastatin target HMGCR, which affects many cellular functions dependent on cholesterol biosynthesis pathway intermediates downstream of HMGCR (Fig. 5). Targeting HMGCR with statins to inhibit isoprenylation was also challenging because it required high statin concentrations (Kolawole et al. 2016). With the recent development of FGTI-2734, isoprenylation is now a more clinically relevant target that could circumvent these statin challenges (Kazi et al. 2019). Here, we tested three highly selective isoprenylation inhibitors: a GGT-1 inhibitor (GGTI-2417) (Falsetti et al. 2007), an a FT inhibitor (FTI-2153) (Crespo et al. 2002), and a dual FT/GGT-1 inhibitor (FGTI-2734) (Kazi et al. 2019) to determine their effects on mast cell function. C57BL/6J bone marrowderived mast cells (BMMCs) were sensitized with IgE and treated with fluvastatin, FTI-2153, GGTI-2717, FGTI-2734 (all at 5 µM final concentration) or vehicle control for 24 hours before antigen-induced IgE crosslinkage (IgE XL). Only fluvastatin and the dual inhibitor FGTI-2734 significantly reduced expression of the degranulation markers CD107a and CD63 and inhibited IL-6 and IL-13 production (Fig 6). Even at doses of 20 µM, neither GGTI-2417 nor FTI-2153 significantly reduced IgE-mediated cytokine production (Fig. 7).

To demonstrate that FTI-2153, GGTI-2417 and FGT-2734 were effective at inhibiting their targets in intact mast cells, we determined their effects on the exclusively farnesylated FT

39

substrate, HDJ2, and the exclusively geranylgeranylated GGT-1 substrate, Rap1a. To this end, BMMCs were treated with FTI-2153, GGTI-2417, or FGTI-2734 for 24hrs and lysates were subjected to western blotting as described in Methods. Figure 8 shows that FTI-2153 was highly selective for inhibiting HDJ2 farnesylation (as documented by the well-established upward shift of the non-farnesylated HDJ2 (Berndt, Hamilton, and Sebti 2011; Peng et al. 2006; Sun et al. 1999)), but not Rap1a geranylgeranylation. Conversely, GGTI-2417 selectively inhibited Rap1a geranylgeranylation (as demonstrated by the appearance of the non-geranylgeranylated Rap1a (Berndt, Hamilton, and Sebti 2011; Peng et al. 2006; Sun et al. 1999)), but not HDJ2 farnesylation. The dual inhibitor FGTI-2734 suppressed both HDJ2 farnesylation and Rap1a geranylgeranylation. These isoprenylation inhibition data, coupled with the data from Figures 6 and 7, confirm inhibitor specificity and suggest that both the FT and GGT-1 arms of the isoprenylation pathway must be inhibited to mimic statin effects on FccRI function.

Dose dependence for FGTI-2734 was measured by inhibition of IgE-induced IL-6 secretion. Concentrations above 0.5  $\mu$ M showed significant effects, with a maximum 50% reduction in IL-6 secretion by C57BL/6 BMMCs (Fig 9). We found similar effects on IL-13, TNF- $\alpha$ , MCP, and MIP-1 $\alpha$  (Fig 9) and no significant loss of cell viability at these concentrations (Fig. 10). Importantly, BMMCs from two other genetic backgrounds, BALB/cJ and fluvastatin-resistant 129/SvJ, yielded similar results (Fig. 11). The IC<sub>50</sub> for FGTI-2734 suppression of IL-6 production was approximately 0.6  $\mu$ M and not significantly different between strains (Fig. 11). FGTI-2734 time-dependency was measured by reduction in FccRI-induced degranulation because, unlike cytokine secretion, this response is very rapid. BMMCs were treated with FGTI-2734 for

40

increasing amounts of time before antigen activation. The maximum inhibitory effect was seen at 6 hours of drug treatment with a  $T_{1/2}$  of ~3 hours (Fig. 11).

To test mast cells beyond culture-derived BMMCs, we first examined mouse peritoneal mast cells. As with BMMC, FGTI-2734 reduced FccRI-mediated IL-6, IL-13, TNF- $\alpha$ , MCP-1, and MIP1 $\alpha$  release (Fig. 12). Finally, we assessed FGTI-2734 effects on human skin-derived mast cells. Like mouse mast cells, human mast cells from 5 donors showed a significant reduction in FccRI-induced TNF- $\alpha$ , MCP-1, and GM-CSF secretion (Fig. 13). In contrast, FGTI-2734 had modest effects on FccRI-mediated degranulation, with 3 of 5 donor populations showing no statistical significance (Fig. 13). Overall, these data showed that FGTI-2734 reduced IgE-mediated mast cell function with its most consistent effects on cytokine production. These data indicate the importance of isoprenylation in FccRI signaling.



Figure 6: Blocking both isoprenylation pathways is required to phenocopy statin effects on IgE-mediated mast cell activation. C57BL/6J BMMCs were sensitized with IgE and treated with fluvastatin (FLU; 5μM), FTI-2717 (5μM), GTI-2418 (5μM), FGTI-2734 (5μM), or vehicle control for 24 hours, then activated by IgE XL. To measure degranulation, IgE XL was carried out for 15 minutes and CD107a and CD63 were measured by flow cytometry. To quantify cytokine secretion, BMMCs were activated for 16 hours, and cytokines were measured in culture supernatant by ELISA. Data shown are from 3 independent experiments with at least 3 biological replicates and at least 2 technical replicates. ANOVA was used for statistics.



**Figure 7:** GGT1- and FT-specific inhibitors GGTI-27417 and FTI-2153 do not reduce cytokine production, even at higher concentrations. BMMCs were treated with increasing amounts of GGTI-2718 or FTI-2717 for 24 hours and activated by IgE for 16 hours. Cytokines were measured by ELISA. Data shown are from a minimum of 3 BMMC populations analyzed in duplicate.



**Figure 8:** Isoprenylation inhibitors inhibit there intended targets in mast cells. BMMCs were treated with the indicated inhibitors for 24 hours and protein concentrations were measured using Western Blot, normalized to DMSO control. Data shown on the right are mean and SEM from 3 experiments.



Figure 9: FGTI-2734 inhibits IgE mediated cytokine production in a dose

**dependent manor.** BMMCs were treated with increasing doses of FGTI-2734 for 24 hours prior to IgE XL for 16 hours. Cytokines were measured by ELISA. Data shown are from 3 independent experiments with at least 3 biological replicates and at least 2 technical replicates. ANOVA was used for statistics.



**Figure 10:** FGTI-2734 does not induce cell death. BMMCs were treated with increasing concentrations of FGTI-2734 for 48 hours and cell death was measured using PI exclusion by Flow cytometry. Data are from 4 BMMC populations analyzed in triplicate.



Figure 11: FGTI effects are not dependent on genetic background and reduce IgEmediated degranulation in a time-dependent manner. BMMCs derived from C57BL/6J, BALB/cJ, or 129/SvJ were treated as in the dose response experiments shown in Figure 9 and IC<sub>50</sub> values for suppressing IL-6 production were calculated. On the right side, BMMCs were treated with FGTI-2734 (5 $\mu$ M) for the indicated times before IgE XL for 15 minutes. CD63 expression was measured by flow cytometry and t<sub>1/2</sub> for inhibition was calculated. Data shown are from 3 independent experiments with at least 3 biological replicates and at least 2 technical replicates. ANOVA was used for statistics.



Figure 12: FGTI-2734 reduces IgE-mediated cytokine secretion by peritoneal mast cells. Peritoneal mast cells from 10 mice were treated with FGTI-2734 (5  $\mu$ M) for 24 hours and activated by IgE XL for 16 hours. Cytokines in culture supernatant were measured by ELISA. Data shown are from 3 independent experiments with at least 3 biological replicates and at least 2 technical replicates. ANOVA was used for statistics.  $\phi$  = unstimulated control cells in DMSO.



Figure 13: FGTI-2734 treatment reduces IgE induced cytokine production in skin-

derived human mast cells. Human skin-derived mast cells from 5 donors were treated with either FGTI-2734 (5µM) or vehicle control for 24 hours and cells were then activated by anti-FcɛRI for 16 hours to measure secreted cytokines were measured by ELISA or 30 minutes to measure beta-hexosaminidase release by colorimetric assay. Each donor cell population is numbered separately. ANOVA was used for statistics.

# siRNA targeting isoprenylation enzymes phenocopies FGTI-2734 effects.

To confirm FGTI-2734 effects are not due to unexpected off-target activities, FT and GGT-1 expression was suppressed with siRNA. FT and GGT-1 are heterodimer enzymes that share an alpha structural subunit but have distinct catalytic beta subunits, FT beta and GGT-1 beta. The individual beta subunits were targeted with siRNA, which yielded a ~67% loss of GGT-1 beta and a ~35% loss of FT beta (Fig. 14A). Even with this partial suppression, BMMCs showed a significant decrease in IgE-mediated degranulation and cytokine secretion compared to control transfection (Fig. 14 B&C). These data argue that FGTI-2734 effects can be attributed to loss of isoprenylation.



**Figure 14:** siRNA targeting GGT-1 and FT reduce IgE-mediated degranulation and cytokine production. C57BL/6J BMMCs were transfected with siRNAs targeting GGT-1 and FT or with scrambled control siRNAs. **A)** Cell lysates were assessed by Western blot for GGT-1 and

FT expression, which was normalized to actin loading control for quantification. **B)** Transfected cells were activated by IgE XL for 15 minutes and degranulation markers CD63 and CD107a were measured by flow cytometry. **C)** Transfected cells were activated by IgE XL for 16 hours, and cytokines were measured by ELISA. Data shown are from 2 experiments using 6 samples.

**FGTI-2734 treatment inhibits multiple FccRI signaling events.** Because FccRI signaling relies on glycolysis for ATP generation (Mendoza, Fudge, and Brown 2021), we tested FGTI-274 effects on glucose metabolism. Using Seahorse metabolic flux analysis, we found that FGTI-2734 had no effect on IgE-mediated extracellular acidification rate, a measure of glycolysis (Fig. 15 A). FGTI-2734 also had no significant effect on FccRI surface levels or expression of c-Kit, which can amplify FccRI signaling (Gilfillan and Tkaczyk 2006) (Fig. 15 B).

To identify how FGTI-2734 is reducing cytokine secretion, we next measured its effects on cytokine synthesis. Using intracellular staining, we found that FGTI-2734 reduced both staining intensity and the fraction of cells producing TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6 (Fig. 16). Coupled with ELISA data, this indicated that the drug suppressed both cytokine synthesis and secretion. We then measured cytokine mRNA by qPCR and found that FGTI-2734 significantly reduced IL-6 and IL-13 transcripts (Fig. 17), suggesting a decrease in cytokine transcription or perhaps mRNA stability. We also found the FGTI-2734 treatment reduced FccRI-mediated Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx, corroborating FGTI-2734's ability to reduce degranulation (Fig. 18).

These data suggest that FGTI-2734 acts downstream of FccRI signaling with a net effect of decreasing cytokine synthesis and Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx. Therefore, we measured FccRI phosphorylation events that precede cytokine transcription. We found that FGTI-2734 did not significantly reduce phosphorylation of Src kinases, the earliest events in FccRI activation. In contrast, downstream phosphorylation of AKT and the MAP kinases ERK, p38, and JNK were significantly reduced (Fig. 19 A, C, & D). Interestingly, FGTI-2734 treatment, while not reducing SRC (such as Lyn and Fyn) kinase phosphorylation, did reduce Syk phosphorylation (Fig. 19 B). These data

53

indicate that FGTI-2734 disrupts FccRI signaling between the apical Src kinases and the downstream PI3K/AKT and MAPK pathways, suggesting that the isoprenylated proteins inhibited by FGTI-2734 may mediate PI3K/AKT and MAPK pathway activation and separately regulate a previously unknown isoprenylated protein regulates Syk phosphorylation.



**Figure 15:** FGTI does not decrease glycolysis, nor does it decrease FcεRI or c-KIT **receptor expression. A)** BMMCs were treated for 24 hours with FGTI-2734 (5μM) then starved of growth factors (SCF/IL-3) and ECAR was measured using Agilent Seahorse. **B)** BMMCs were treated with vehicle control (DMSO) or FGTI-2734 (5μM) for 24 hours and FcεRI and c-KIT expression was measured by flow cytometry.



Figure 16: FGTI-2734 treatment decreases intracellular cytokine staining. BMMCs were treated with vehicle or FGTI-2734 (5 $\mu$ M) for 24 hours then activated with IgE XL for 5.5 hours and cytokine production was assessed by flow cytometry. Data shown are from 3 experiments using 3 samples.  $\phi$  = unstimulated control cells in DMSO.



**Figure 17:** FGTI-2734 reduces cytokine mRNA. BMMCs were treated with FGTI-2734 (5µM) for 24 hours and activated with IgE XL for 4 hours. RT-qPCR was used to measure cytokine mRNA levels. Data shown are from 3 experiments using 3 samples.



**Figure 18:** FGTI decreases IgE-mediated Ca+ influx. BMMCs were treated with DMSO or FGTI-2734 (5 μM) for 24hrs before cells were activated with DNP-HSA while measuring Fura-2 fluorescence intensity. Data are from 3 independent experiments. Statistics measured by AUC and Student's t-test.



Figure 19: FGTI suppresses FccRI signaling cascades. BMMCs were treated with FGTI-

2734 (5μM) or vehicle for 24 hours and placed in media without growth factors for 2 hours before IgE XL for 5 minutes. Cells were fixed and permeabilized prior to flow cytometry analysis of phospho-protein staining for **(A)** p-SRC, **(B)** p-SYK, **(C)** p-AKT, **(D)** p-MAPKs. Data shown are from 3 experiments using 3 samples.

#### FGTI-2734 effects may be due to loss of K-Ras localization.

Over 400 proteins are known to be isoprenylated, including Ras, Rac, and Rho family proteins (Storck et al. 2019). In particular, Ras proteins are important for  $Fc \in RI$  signaling through MAP kinases. Studies of K-Ras and N-Ras function in cancer have shown that while these proteins are exclusively farnesylated under normal physiological conditions, they become geranylgeranylated if FT is blocked (Berndt, Hamilton, and Sebti 2011). To determine if FGTI inhibits K-Ras isoprenylation, which in turn reduces its membrane anchoring, we treated BMMCs with DMSO or FGTI-2734 for 24hrs, then isolated membrane and cytoplasmic proteins. We found that FGTI-2734 decreased K-Ras membrane localization and concomitantly increased K-Ras in the cytosol. The net effect was a ~50% decrease in membrane-associated K-Ras (Fig 20). To determine if reduced access to K-Ras is sufficient to mimic FGTI-2734 effects, we inhibited K-Ras expression with siRNA. Several attempts with siRNA pools yielded ~30% K-Ras loss (Fig 21 A). Interestingly, even this modest reduction decreased FccRI-mediated degranulation and IL-6 and IL-13 secretion, much like FGTI-2734 (Fig 21 B&C). In contrast, a 50% reduction of N-Ras using siRNAs had no effect on degranulation or cytokine secretion (Fig 22). These data indicate that inhibiting K-Ras isoprenylation and the subsequent reduction of its membrane localization phenocopies FGTI-2734 and could partly explain the mechanism by which FGTI-2734 suppresses mast cell function.



**Figure 20:** FGTI decreases K-Ras isoprenylation and localization to the cell membrane. BMMCs were treated with either FGTI-2734 or vehicle control for 24 hours and lysed. Membrane and cytosolic fractions were assessed for K-Ras by Western blot. Fyn, a membrane-associated protein that is not isoprenylated, and actin, a cytosolic protein, were used to determine the effectiveness of cell fractionation. Data are from 2 independent experiments, with p values calculated by ANOVA.



Figure 21: K-Ras knockdown reduces IgE-mediated activation, mimicking the effects of FGTI-2734. (A) BMMCs were transfected as in Fig. 14 with siRNA targeting K-Ras. Lysates were assessed for K-Ras expression by Western blot. B) Cells from (A) were activated by IgE XL for 15 minutes and degranulation markers CD107a and CD63 were measured by flow cytometry. C) Cells from (A) were activated by IgE XL for 16 hours and cytokines were measured by ELISA. Data are representative of at least 2 independent experiments. P values were calculated by ANOVA.



**Figure 22:** N-Ras does not reduce IgE-mediated activation or phenocopy FGTI. BMMCs were transfected as in Fig. 14 with siRNA targeting N-Ras. Cell lysates were assessed for N-Ras expression by Western blot. IgE XL-induced degranulation and cytokine production were assessed as described for K-Ras targeting (Fig. 21). Data are representative of at least 2 independent experiments. P values were calculated by ANOVA.

## FGTI-2734 inhibits IgE-mediated systemic anaphylaxis.

To determine if FGTI-2734 can suppress mast cell function in vivo, we employed a mast celland histamine-dependent model of passive systemic anaphylaxis (PSA) (Kanjarawi et al. 2013). C75BL/6J mice were injected with IgE and treated with vehicle or FGTI-2734 (1 mg/kg) 20 hours before and again 2 hours before antigen injection. Core body temperature was used to assess anaphylaxis and peripheral blood plasma was used to measure mast cell protease (mMCPT-1) and IL-6. As shown in Figure 23A, FGTI-2734 significantly diminished hypothermia over the course of 2 hours post-antigen, reducing the area under the curve by >50% (Fig 23 A). We also found that FGTI-2734 significantly reduced plasma levels of the mast cell protease mMCPT-1 as well as IL-6 (Fig 23 B). Consistent with our in vitro data, FGTI-2734 also suppressed PSA in fluvastatin-resistant 129/SvJ mice (Fig. 24). To determine if FGTI-2734 effects were due to inhibiting mast cell function rather than acting directly on the vasculature, mice were injected with histamine. Unlike IgE-antigen challenge, FGTI-2734 had no effect on histamine-induced hypothermia, indicating the drug does not antagonize histamine receptor signaling (Fig. 25). These data support the conclusion that FGTI-2734 can significantly reduce FccRI-mediated mast cell function in vivo.



**Figure 23:** FGTI reduces mast cell-dependent anaphylaxis on the C57BL/6J mouse background. Female C57BL/6J mice were treated with vehicle or FGTI-2734 (1mg/kg, i.p.) and subjected to PSA as described in Materials and Methods. **(A)** Change in core body temperature. AUC values were compared using Student's t-test. **(B)** Plasma levels of mMCPT-1 ten minutes after antigen injection or IL-6 two hours after antigen injection were measured by ELISA. Data shown are from 3 experiments using N=13 mice/point. P values were calculated by ANOVA. \*p<.05; \*\*\*p<.001; \*\*\*\*p<.0001.



**Figure 24:** FGTI-2734 reduces anaphylaxis in statin-resistant 129/SvJ mice. Female 129/SvJ mice were treated with vehicle (N=7) or FGTI-2734 (1mg/kg, i.p.) (N=8) and subjected to PSA as described in Materials and Methods. Change in core body temperature measured. \*\*\*p<.001. AUC values were compared using Student's t-test.



**Figure 25:** FGTI treatment does not inhibit histamine-induced anaphylaxis. Female C57BL/6J mice were treated with vehicle or FGTI-2734 (1mg/kg, i.p.) 20 hours and again 2 hours before histamine injection (2mg, i.p.), and core body temperature was measured. Data shown are from 3 experiments, N=13/treatment group.

# FGTI-2734 reduces inflammation in *Alternaria*-induced airway inflammation.

PSA is mast cell-dependent but circumvents many aspects of the atopic response such as antigen presentation, Th2 differentiation, and IgE production. To test FGTI-2734 effects in a more clinically relevant allergy model, we employed *Alternaria* (ALT)-induced airway inflammation (Kobayashi et al. 2009). This model elicits pulmonary eosinophilia and other indicators of the Th2 response. The experimental design is depicted in Figure 26A. In brief, mice were sensitized via i.n. route with OVA (100 µg/mouse, used to track antigen-specific IgE production) +/- ALT (10 µg/mouse) on days 0 and 7 and then challenged with i.n. OVA (50 µg/mouse) +/- ALT (5µg/mouse) on days 14-16. Vehicle or FGTI-2734 (1mg/kg) was administered via i.n. route on days 12-16 and samples were harvested on day 17.

We found that FGTI-2734 significantly diminished ALT-induced BALF infiltrate. In fact, total cellular infiltrate and eosinophil number were restored almost to basal levels (Fig 26B). In both BALF and lung tissue digest, the percent eosinophils was reduced by at least half (Fig 26 B&C). This model of allergic disease does not induce significant neutrophil infiltration (Fig 27), and FGTI did not affect the modest increase in neutrophils noted. Blinded scoring of H&E- and PAS-stained lung sections showed that FGTI-2734 significantly reduced inflammation and mucus production (Fig. 28). The drug also significantly reduced plasma levels of mast cell mMCPT-1 protease (Fig. 29). Consistent with FGTI-2734 treatment beginning after antigen sensitization, the drug did not affect the 5-fold increase in OVA-specific IgE levels (Fig. 29). When single cell suspensions of the draining mediastinal lymph nodes were re-stimulated with OVA ex vivo, we found that FGTI-2734 significantly reduced IL-5 and IL-13 secretion (Fig 30).

Finally, we tested FGTI-2734 effects on airway hyperresponsiveness. We found that the model depicted in Figure 26A elicited little airway hyperresponsiveness and that FGTI-2734 at 1mg/kg had no effect (data not shown). Therefore, we extended the model to elicit increased airway resistance. The experimental design is depicted in Figure 31A. Briefly, mice were sensitized via i.n. route with OVA (100 µg/mouse) +/- ALT (10 µg/mouse) on days 0 and 10 and then challenged with i.n. OVA (50 µg/mouse) +/- ALT (5µg/mouse) on days 20-23. Vehicle or FGTI-2734 (5mg/kg) was administered via i.n. route on days 18-23, and airway hyperresponsiveness was measured by FlexiVent on day 24. We found that FGTI-2734 treatment significantly reduced both resistance (Rrs) and elastance (Ers) as judged by AUC (Fig 31 B). These data show that FGTI-2734 can reduce airway inflammation and bronchoconstriction in a relevant model of allergic asthma.



Figure 26: FGTI reduces Eosinophil infiltration in model of allergic disease. A)

Schematic of ALT model. FGTI-2734 was used at 1 mg/kg. **B)** Total BALF cells and BALF eosinophil number and percentage of CD45+ cells were measured by flow cytometry analysis as described in Materials and Methods. **C)** Lung tissue eosinophils were measured by flow cytometry. Data shown are from 4 experiments using N=12 mice, analyzed by ANOVA.



**Figure 27:** FGTI does not affect neutrophil infiltration. Lung tissue neutrophils were measured by flow cytometry analysis as described in Materials and Methods. BALF neutrophils were measured by flow cytometry. Data shown are from 4 experiments using N=12 mice analyzed by ANOVA.


**Figure 28:** FGTI reduces lung pathology. Scoring of lung inflammation in (A) H&E-stained sections and (B) mucus production in PAS-stained sections was calculated as described in Materials and Methods. Bar charts show summary data from 4 experiments using 12 mice/group, with samples analyzed by ANOVA.



Figure 29: FGTI reduces mast cell protease but not circulating antigen-specific

**IgE.** Plasma mMCPT-1 and OVA-specific IgE concentration on day 17 were measured by ELISA.

Data are from 4 experiments using 12 mice/group, with samples analyzed by ANOVA.



**Figure 30:** FGTI reduces ex vivo lymph node simulation. Mediastinal lymph node cells were collected on day 17. Cells were restimulated with OVA (300 ng/ml) for 3 days, and cytokines in culture supernatants were measured by ELISA. Data are from 4 experiments using 12 mice/group, with samples analyzed by ANOVA.



Figure 31: FGTI reduces airway resistance and elastance. A) Schematic of ALT-

induced airway hyperresponsiveness model. FGTI-2734 was used at 5 mg/kg. **B)** FlexiVent was used to measure lung resistance (Rrs) and elastance (Ers) elicited by increasing doses of methacholine. AUC and ANOVA were used to measure significance. N=8/group.

## Discussion

Asthma and allergic disease are abundant in developed and some developing nations (To et al. 2012; Nurmagambetov, Kuwahara, and Garbe 2018). While current interventions are effective for many, novel approaches are needed to address severe disease, reduce cost, and improve access. Several large studies found an association between statin use and reduced asthma severity, prompting us to ask how these frequently-prescribed and relatively safe drugs might be repurposed (Wang et al. 2018; Tse et al. 2013; Huang et al. 2011). Mast cells play a key role in allergic disease, with their most studied contributions being through FccRI signaling. Because cholesterol and isoprenylated proteins play critical roles in IgE-mediated mast cell function, FccRI is a logical target for statin-based inhibition. Our initial finding that statins could suppress FccRI-induced mast cell activation was complicated by varying levels of statin resistance among mouse strains and human donors (Kolawole et al. 2016). Therefore, we sought a consistent means of attacking the same signaling cascades while circumventing drug resistance.

In our previous study, we showed evidence that rescuing isoprenylation reversed statin effects (Kolawole et al. 2016). In the current work, we found that inhibiting isoprenylation mimics statin effects, but that both FT and GGT-1 need to be inhibited. Our previous work identified an independent role for geranylgeranylation; however, this conclusion was based on GGT-1 inhibitor effects at concentrations that could have blocked both FT and GGT-1 (Kolawole et al. 2016; Goossens et al. 2005). The recent development of FGTI-2734 and the more selective FT and GGT-1 inhibitors, FTI-2153 and GGTI-2417, respectively, allowed us to better parse isoprenylation and its role in mast cell function (Kazi et al. 2019). We also expanded our work to a relevant asthma model and sought to identify isoprenylation substrates critical for FcɛRI function. The data support the idea that targeting isoprenylation and specifically K-Ras may be productive avenues for clinical translation.

Our current findings support the conclusion that FT and GGT-1 provide cooperative support for FccRI signaling. While both enzymes must be antagonized to suppress mast cell function, doing so appears to avoid the limits of statin resistance. Our previous studies found statin resistance in the 129/SvJ mouse strain, partial resistance in other strains, and considerable variation among human donors. In response to statin treatment, 129/SvJ mast cells upregulated HMGCR expression, a known mechanism of statin resistance (Chasman et al. 2004). This inconsistent drug response reduced our optimism that statins might be repurposed for allergy therapy. Therefore, it was encouraging that FGTI-2734 showed no variability on different mouse backgrounds, including 129/SvJ.

Isoprenylation is the enzymatically-catalyzed addition of a 15-carbon or 20-carbon lipid to the C-terminus of proteins, allowing membrane localization that is pivotal for cell signaling. Isoprenylation occurs on a cysteine residue located 4 amino acids from the C-terminus. The last amino acid in the CAAX box motif determines if the protein is preferentially lipid-modified by FT or GGT-1. It is estimated that FT and GGT-1 modify at least 400 proteins (Storck et al. 2019), many of which are small GTPases such as RAS that play a role in cell signaling, vesicle trafficking, and protein scaffolding for signal transduction. Importantly, isoprenylation inhibitors such as FGTI-2734 are in pre-clinical or clinical studies targeting cancers with defective Ras pathways (Karasic et al. 2019). These studies have greatly expanded our knowledge of Ras function.

All 3 Ras isoforms, H-Ras, N-Ras and K-Ras are farnesylated. However, N- and K-Ras can alternatively become geranylgeranylated when FT is inhibited with a FTI (Berndt, Hamilton, and

Sebti 2011). Mast cells can express all 3 Ras isoforms, but their individual roles in FccRI signaling are unclear (Dwyer, Barrett, and Austen 2016). Our findings suggest that H-Ras is dispensable, because it is only farnesylated and FT inhibition had no effect on FccRI-induced cytokine production or degranulation.

The need to block both FT and GGT-1 to suppress mast cell function suggests a role for N-Ras or K-Ras. Our findings show that a 50% decrease in N-Ras had no effect on cytokine production or degranulation, while a 30% loss of K-Ras largely mimicked FGTI-2734 treatment. Other studies have reported that a small loss of Ras function significantly decreases lymphoid cell activation by antigen receptor signaling (Das et al. 2009). It is interesting that modest K-Ras depletion had less effect on degranulation than cytokine secretion. One interpretation is that cytokine induction is heavily dependent on K-Ras function, while degranulation proceeds with a lower threshold of K-Ras-mediated signals. (Baier et al. 2014; Hong-Geller et al. 2001). We found that FGTI-2734 treatment correlated to a >50% loss of K-Ras membrane localization. Therefore, a 30% K-Ras loss via siRNA may equate to less effective inhibition of degranulation. However, loss of isoprenylation on proteins other than K-Ras may explain the more potent effects of FGTI-2734 compared to the siRNA approach. Other possible candidate proteins could be Rac2 and Cdc42 have important roles in granule formation and trafficking, thus K-Ras may simply be less critical (Baier et al. 2014; Hong-Geller et al. 2001). This could be best assessed using K-Ras KO cells, avoiding the issues of partial depletion with siRNA. If this approach were paired with forced K-Ras membrane localization by transfecting a myristoylated-K-Ras mutant prior to FGTI-2734 treatment, we could determine if K-Ras targeting is necessary and sufficient for FGTI-2734 effects.

These data may also have relevance to differences we observed between mouse BMMC and human skin mast cells. The latter group was mostly resistant to FGTI-2734 when measuring IgE-induced degranulation, whereas cytokine secretion was significantly reduced in mouse and human cells. One explanation is that human skin mast cells may require minimal K-Ras signaling or use a protein distinct from mouse BMMC to elicit degranulation. Also, it is important to note that human skin mast cells are a connective tissue phenotype mast cells, while BMMCs are more closely related to mucosal mast cells (Akula et al. 2020). While mucosal and connective tissue mast cells share many key similarities, their protein and transcription signatures differ (Kurashima and Kiyono 2014). Further study of isoprenylated proteins is needed to better understand the role of FT and GGT-1 in mast cell function, especially in human mast cells comparing mast cells from different anatomical locations.

The reduction of Syk phosphorylation could also explain the phenotype seen with FGTI-2734 treatment. Because Syk phosphorylation occurs very early in the FccRI cascade – likely the second step after Lyn activation - decreased Syk activity could be a major contributor to FGTI-2734 effects. Syk KO mast cells have significantly reduced mast cell function (Wex et al. 2011; Costello et al. 1996). Diminished Syk phosphorylation could also explain the reduced Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx seen in Fig. 18. Because Syk does not possess a CAAX box, it is unlikely the FGTI-2734 acts directly on this protein. A review of the literature did not suggest an isoprenylated GTPase protein that would likely affect Syk phosphorylation, including by acting on proteins like SHP-1 and -2 that dephosphorylate Syk and FccRI  $\beta$  (Alsadeq et al. 2014). Future research into isoprenylated protein(s) that can modulate Syk could improve our understanding of FccRI

signaling in allergic disease and provide new therapeutic targets. It is also important to consider off-target effects of FGTI-2734 that unexpectedly inhibit Syk.

The importance of isoprenylation and the efficacy of FGTI-2734 was clear in two mouse models relevant to allergic disease. PSA is a mast cell-dependent model in which FcERI crosslinkage elicits systemic cytokine production as well as histamine-mediated vasodilation and hypothermia. This relatively simple model circumvents antigen presentation, Th2 differentiation, and IgE production, allowing mast cell function to be more clearly assessed. Because FGTI-2734 decreased IgE-mediated hypothermia and plasma cytokines - but had no effect on direct histamine challenge – the drug appears to suppress mast cell function rather than vascular histamine responsiveness. This was effective even on the statin-resistant 129/SvJ background, supporting the potential advantage of targeting isoprenylation directly.

Alternaria-induced pulmonary inflammation is considerably more complex and more clinically relevant than PSA (Salo et al. 2006). It maintains the complexity of antigen processing and lymphocyte differentiation and manifests as airway eosinophil recruitment and pulmonary hyperresponsiveness (Kobayashi et al. 2009). By waiting to treat with FGTI-2734 on day 12, we sought to target established allergic inflammation rather than prevent it. This model also employed the drug through intranasal administration, which could have significant advantages for clinical use. Drug efficacy at the 1mg/kg dose was striking. Eosinophil numbers, circulating mMCPT-1, and pulmonary inflammation were reduced to nearly control levels. Mucus production and *ex vivo* lymphocyte cytokine secretion was halved, and airway hyperresponsiveness was greatly diminished. These data suggest that isoprenylation is foundational to inflammation in this fungal challenge model and warrant further study of the

proteins involved. Because the drug had no effect on antigen-specific IgE production at the time points tested, our data suggest FGTI-2734 could be effective in established disease.

There are important limits to our interpretations. In the airway inflammation model, FGTI-2734 is likely acting directly on lymphocytes and eosinophils, so we cannot conclude that mast cell inhibition explains all or even most of the effects seen. Inducible cell-specific deletion of the critical isoprenylation enzymes and perhaps K-Ras is needed to draw such conclusions. Of the >400 known isoprenylation substrates, K-Ras is likely one among several that are critical to FccRI-mediated mast cell function. Importantly, and unlike statins, FGTI-2734 is in pre-clinical models and has no safety profile. Thus, it remains well removed from allergic disease therapy for now.

In sum, our study supports an important role for isoprenylation, and specifically the substrate K-Ras, in mast cell function. It appears that FT and GGT-1 must both be suppressed for efficacy and that this approach might circumvent statin resistance. We urge further development of dual FT/GGT-1 inhibitors and their study in allergic disease.

## References

- Abdala-Valencia, H., M. E. Coden, S. E. Chiarella, E. A. Jacobsen, B. S. Bochner, J. J. Lee, and S. Berdnikovs. 2018. 'Shaping eosinophil identity in the tissue contexts of development, homeostasis, and disease', *J Leukoc Biol*, 104: 95-108.
- Akula, S., A. Paivandy, Z. Fu, M. Thorpe, G. Pejler, and L. Hellman. 2020. 'How Relevant Are Bone Marrow-Derived Mast Cells (BMMCs) as Models for Tissue Mast Cells? A Comparative Transcriptome Analysis of BMMCs and Peritoneal Mast Cells', *Cells*, 9.
- Alsadeq, A., E. Hobeika, D. Medgyesi, K. Kläsener, and M. Reth. 2014. 'The role of the Syk/Shp-1 kinase-phosphatase equilibrium in B cell development and signaling', *J Immunol*, 193: 268-76.
- Annunziato, F., L. Cosmi, F. Liotta, E. Maggi, and S. Romagnani. 2014. 'Human Th1 dichotomy: origin, phenotype and biologic activities', *Immunology*, 144: 343-51.
- Baier, A., V. N. Ndoh, P. Lacy, and G. Eitzen. 2014. 'Rac1 and Rac2 control distinct events during antigen-stimulated mast cell exocytosis', *J Leukoc Biol*, 95: 763-74.
- Beaven, M. A. 2009. 'Our perception of the mast cell from Paul Ehrlich to now', *Eur J Immunol*, 39: 11-25.
- Berndt, Norbert, Andrew D. Hamilton, and Saïd M. Sebti. 2011. 'Targeting protein prenylation for cancer therapy', *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 11: 775-91.
- Blank, U., F. H. Falcone, and G. Nilsson. 2013. 'The history of mast cell and basophil research some lessons learnt from the last century', *Allergy*, 68: 1093-101.
- Bousquet, J., S. Wenzel, S. Holgate, W. Lumry, P. Freeman, and H. Fox. 2004. 'Predicting response to omalizumab, an anti-IgE antibody, in patients with allergic asthma', *Chest*, 125: 1378-86.
- Breedveld, Annelot, and Marjolein van Egmond. 2019. 'IgA and FcαRI: Pathological Roles and Therapeutic Opportunities', *Frontiers in Immunology*, 10.
- Brightling, C. E., P. Bradding, F. A. Symon, S. T. Holgate, A. J. Wardlaw, and I. D. Pavord. 2002. 'Mast-cell infiltration of airway smooth muscle in asthma', *N Engl J Med*, 346: 1699-705.
- Broide, D. H., G. J. Gleich, A. J. Cuomo, D. A. Coburn, E. C. Federman, L. B. Schwartz, and S. I.
   Wasserman. 1991. 'Evidence of ongoing mast cell and eosinophil degranulation in symptomatic asthma airway', *J Allergy Clin Immunol*, 88: 637-48.
- Casey, P. J., and M. C. Seabra. 1996. 'Protein prenyltransferases', J Biol Chem, 271: 5289-92.
- Chasman, D. I., D. Posada, L. Subrahmanyan, N. R. Cook, V. P. Stanton, Jr., and P. M. Ridker.
  2004. 'Pharmacogenetic study of statin therapy and cholesterol reduction', *Jama*, 291: 2821-7.
- Chirumbolo, S. 2012. 'State-of-the-art review about basophil research in immunology and allergy: is the time right to treat these cells with the respect they deserve?', *Blood Transfus*, 10: 148-64.
- Costello, P. S., M. Turner, A. E. Walters, C. N. Cunningham, P. H. Bauer, J. Downward, and V. L. Tybulewicz. 1996. 'Critical role for the tyrosine kinase Syk in signalling through the high affinity IgE receptor of mast cells', *Oncogene*, 13: 2595-605.
- Crespo, N. C., F. Delarue, J. Ohkanda, D. Carrico, A. D. Hamilton, and S. M. Sebti. 2002. 'The farnesyltransferase inhibitor, FTI-2153, inhibits bipolar spindle formation during mitosis

independently of transformation and Ras and p53 mutation status', *Cell Death & Differentiation*, 9: 702-09.

- Crotty, S. 2019. 'T Follicular Helper Cell Biology: A Decade of Discovery and Diseases', *Immunity*, 50: 1132-48.
- Currie, G. P., J. G. Douglas, and L. G. Heaney. 2009. 'Difficult to treat asthma in adults', *Bmj*, 338: b494.
- Damask, C. C., M. W. Ryan, T. B. Casale, M. Castro, C. B. Franzese, S. E. Lee, J. M. Levy, S. Y. Lin, P. A. Lio, A. T. Peters, M. P. Platt, and A. A. White. 2021. 'Targeted Molecular Therapies in Allergy and Rhinology', *Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg*, 164: S1-s21.
- Das, J., M. Ho, J. Zikherman, C. Govern, M. Yang, A. Weiss, A. K. Chakraborty, and J. P. Roose. 2009. 'Digital signaling and hysteresis characterize ras activation in lymphoid cells', *Cell*, 136: 337-51.
- Desireddi, N. V., P. L. Campbell, J. A. Stern, R. Sobkoviak, S. Chuai, S. Shahrara, P. Thumbikat, R.
   M. Pope, J. R. Landis, A. E. Koch, and A. J. Schaeffer. 2008. 'Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 and macrophage inflammatory protein-1alpha as possible biomarkers for the chronic pelvic pain syndrome', *J Urol*, 179: 1857-61; discussion 61-2.
- Diamantis, E., G. Kyriakos, L. V. Quiles-Sanchez, P. Farmaki, and T. Troupis. 2017. 'The Anti-Inflammatory Effects of Statins on Coronary Artery Disease: An Updated Review of the Literature', *Curr Cardiol Rev*, 13: 209-16.
- Dráber, Pavel, Vadym Sulimenko, and Eduarda Dráberová. 2012. 'Cytoskeleton in Mast Cell Signaling', *Frontiers in Immunology*, 3.
- Dwyer, D. F., N. A. Barrett, and K. F. Austen. 2016. 'Expression profiling of constitutive mast cells reveals a unique identity within the immune system', *Nat Immunol*, 17: 878-87.
- Endo, A. 2010. 'A historical perspective on the discovery of statins', *Proc Jpn Acad Ser B Phys Biol Sci*, 86: 484-93.
- Endo, A., M. Kuroda, and Y. Tsujita. 1976. 'ML-236A, ML-236B, and ML-236C, new inhibitors of cholesterogenesis produced by Penicillium citrinium', *J Antibiot (Tokyo)*, 29: 1346-8.
- Fallon, P. G., H. E. Jolin, P. Smith, C. L. Emson, M. J. Townsend, R. Fallon, P. Smith, and A. N. McKenzie. 2002. 'IL-4 induces characteristic Th2 responses even in the combined absence of IL-5, IL-9, and IL-13', *Immunity*, 17: 7-17.
- Falsetti, S. C., D. A. Wang, H. Peng, D. Carrico, A. D. Cox, C. J. Der, A. D. Hamilton, and S. M. Sebti. 2007. 'Geranylgeranyltransferase I inhibitors target RalB to inhibit anchoragedependent growth and induce apoptosis and RalA to inhibit anchorage-independent growth', *Mol Cell Biol*, 27: 8003-14.
- Fang, X., Y. Lang, Y. Wang, W. Mo, H. Wei, J. Xie, and M. Yu. 2012. 'Shp2 activates Fyn and Ras to regulate RBL-2H3 mast cell activation following FccRI aggregation', *PLoS One*, 7: e40566.
- Fernando, Josephine, Travis W. Faber, Nicholas A. Pullen, Yves T. Falanga, Elizabeth Motunrayo Kolawole, Carole A. Oskeritzian, Brian O. Barnstein, Geethani Bandara, Geqiang Li, Lawrence B. Schwartz, Sarah Spiegel, David B. Straus, Daniel H. Conrad, Kevin D. Bunting, and John J. Ryan. 2013. 'Genotype-Dependent Effects of TGF-β1 on Mast Cell Function: Targeting the Stat5 Pathway', *The Journal of Immunology*, 191: 4505-13.
- Fletcher, S., E. P. Keaney, C. G. Cummings, M. A. Blaskovich, M. A. Hast, M. P. Glenn, S. Y. Chang, C. J. Bucher, R. J. Floyd, W. P. Katt, M. H. Gelb, W. C. Van Voorhis, L. S. Beese, S. M.

Sebti, and A. D. Hamilton. 2010. 'Structure-based design and synthesis of potent, ethylenediamine-based, mammalian farnesyltransferase inhibitors as anticancer agents', *J Med Chem*, 53: 6867-88.

- Forero-Peña, D. A., and F. R. Gutierrez. 2013. 'Statins as modulators of regulatory T-cell biology', *Mediators Inflamm*, 2013: 167086.
- Galli, S. J., P. Starkl, T. Marichal, and M. Tsai. 2016. 'Mast cells and IgE in defense against venoms: Possible "good side" of allergy?', *Allergol Int*, 65: 3-15.
- Gilfillan, A. M., and C. Tkaczyk. 2006. 'Integrated signalling pathways for mast-cell activation', *Nat Rev Immunol*, 6: 218-30.
- Godse, K., A. Mehta, S. Patil, M. Gautam, and N. Nadkarni. 2015. 'Omalizumab-A Review', *Indian J Dermatol*, 60: 381-4.
- Goossens, L., S. Deweer, J. Pommery, J. P. Hénichart, and J. F. Goossens. 2005. 'Spectroscopic study of fluorescent peptides for prenyl transferase assays', *J Pharm Biomed Anal*, 37: 417-22.
- Gould, Hannah J., and Brian J. Sutton. 2008. 'IgE in allergy and asthma today', *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 8: 205-17.
- Greenwood, J., L. Steinman, and S. S. Zamvil. 2006. 'Statin therapy and autoimmune disease: from protein prenylation to immunomodulation', *Nat Rev Immunol*, 6: 358-70.
- Healy, A., J. M. Berus, J. L. Christensen, C. Lee, C. Mantsounga, W. Dong, J. P. Watts, Jr., M. Assali, N. Ceneri, R. Nilson, J. Neverson, W. C. Wu, G. Choudhary, and A. R. Morrison. 2020. 'Statins Disrupt Macrophage Rac1 Regulation Leading to Increased Atherosclerotic Plaque Calcification', *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 40: 714-32.
- Hoffman, W. F., A. W. Alberts, P. S. Anderson, J. S. Chen, R. L. Smith, and A. K. Willard. 1986. '3-Hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-coenzyme A reductase inhibitors. 4. Side chain ester derivatives of mevinolin', *J Med Chem*, 29: 849-52.
- Hong-Geller, E., D. Holowka, R. P. Siraganian, B. Baird, and R. A. Cerione. 2001. 'Activated Cdc42/Rac reconstitutes Fcepsilon RI-mediated Ca2+ mobilization and degranulation in mutant RBL mast cells', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 98: 1154-9.
- Huang, C. C., W. L. Chan, Y. C. Chen, T. J. Chen, K. T. Chou, S. J. Lin, J. W. Chen, and H. B. Leu.
  2011. 'Statin use in patients with asthma: a nationwide population-based study', *Eur J Clin Invest*, 41: 507-12.
- Inagaki-Katashiba, N., T. Ito, M. Inaba, Y. Azuma, A. Tanaka, V. Phan, K. Kibata, A. Satake, and S. Nomura. 2019. 'Statins can suppress DC-mediated Th2 responses through the repression of OX40-ligand and CCL17 expression', *Eur J Immunol*, 49: 2051-62.
- Janda, S., A. Young, J. M. Fitzgerald, M. Etminan, and J. Swiston. 2010. 'The effect of statins on mortality from severe infections and sepsis: a systematic review and meta-analysis', *J Crit Care*, 25: 656.e7-22.
- Jeong, A., K. F. Suazo, W. G. Wood, M. D. Distefano, and L. Li. 2018. 'Isoprenoids and protein prenylation: implications in the pathogenesis and therapeutic intervention of Alzheimer's disease', *Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol*, 53: 279-310.
- Kalinin, A., N. H. Thomä, A. Iakovenko, I. Heinemann, E. Rostkova, A. T. Constantinescu, and K. Alexandrov. 2001. 'Expression of mammalian geranylgeranyltransferase type-II in Escherichia coli and its application for in vitro prenylation of Rab proteins', *Protein Expr Purif*, 22: 84-91.

- Kambe, N., M. Kambe, J. P. Kochan, and L. B. Schwartz. 2001. 'Human skin-derived mast cells can proliferate while retaining their characteristic functional and protease phenotypes', *Blood*, 97: 2045-52.
- Kanjarawi, R., M. Dy, E. Bardel, T. Sparwasser, B. Dubois, S. Mecheri, and D. Kaiserlian. 2013.
   'Regulatory CD4+Foxp3+ T cells control the severity of anaphylaxis', *PLoS One*, 8: e69183.
- Karasic, T. B., E. G. Chiorean, S. M. Sebti, and P. J. O'Dwyer. 2019. 'A Phase I Study of GGTI-2418 (Geranylgeranyl Transferase I Inhibitor) in Patients with Advanced Solid Tumors', *Target Oncol*, 14: 613-18.
- Kataoka, Tatsuki R., Nobuyasu Komazawa, Eiichi Morii, Keisuke Oboki, and Toru Nakano. 2005. 'Involvement of connective tissue–type mast cells in Th1 immune responses via Stat4 expression', *Blood*, 105: 1016-20.
- Kazi, A., S. Xiang, H. Yang, L. Chen, P. Kennedy, M. Ayaz, S. Fletcher, C. Cummings, H. R.
  Lawrence, F. Beato, Y. Kang, M. P. Kim, A. Delitto, P. W. Underwood, J. B. Fleming, J. G.
  Trevino, A. D. Hamilton, and S. M. Sebti. 2019. 'Dual Farnesyl and Geranylgeranyl
  Transferase Inhibitor Thwarts Mutant KRAS-Driven Patient-Derived Pancreatic Tumors', *Clin Cancer Res*, 25: 5984-96.
- Khalaf, W. F., F. C. Yang, S. Chen, H. White, W. Bessler, D. A. Ingram, and D. W. Clapp. 2007. 'Kras is critical for modulating multiple c-kit-mediated cellular functions in wild-type and Nf1+/- mast cells', *J Immunol*, 178: 2527-34.
- Kim, S. W., H. J. Kang, M. Jhon, J. W. Kim, J. Y. Lee, A. J. Walker, B. Agustini, J. M. Kim, and M. Berk. 2019. 'Statins and Inflammation: New Therapeutic Opportunities in Psychiatry', *Front Psychiatry*, 10: 103.
- Kim, Z., B. S. Choi, J. K. Kim, and D. I. Won. 2016. 'Basophil markers for identification and activation in the indirect basophil activation test by flow cytometry for diagnosis of autoimmune urticaria', Ann Lab Med, 36: 28-35.
- Kinet, J. P. 1999. 'The high-affinity IgE receptor (Fc epsilon RI): from physiology to pathology', Annu Rev Immunol, 17: 931-72.
- Kobayashi, Takao, Koji Iijima, Suresh Radhakrishnan, Vinay Mehta, Robert Vassallo, Christopher
   B. Lawrence, Jong-Chol Cyong, Larry R. Pease, Katsuji Oguchi, and Hirohito Kita. 2009.
   'Asthma-Related Environmental Fungus, <em>Alternaria</em>, Activates Dendritic Cells and Produces Potent Th2 Adjuvant Activity', *The Journal of Immunology*, 182: 2502-10.
- Kolawole, E. M., J. J. McLeod, V. Ndaw, D. Abebayehu, B. O. Barnstein, T. Faber, A. J. Spence, M. Taruselli, A. Paranjape, T. T. Haque, A. A. Qayum, Q. A. Kazmi, D. S. Wijesinghe, J. L. Sturgill, C. E. Chalfant, D. B. Straus, C. A. Oskeritzian, and J. J. Ryan. 2016. 'Fluvastatin Suppresses Mast Cell and Basophil IgE Responses: Genotype-Dependent Effects', *J Immunol*, 196: 1461-70.
- Kovárová, M., P. Tolar, R. Arudchandran, L. Dráberová, J. Rivera, and P. Dráber. 2001. 'Structure-function analysis of Lyn kinase association with lipid rafts and initiation of early signaling events after Fcepsilon receptor I aggregation', *Mol Cell Biol*, 21: 8318-28.
- Krystel-Whittemore, M., K. N. Dileepan, and J. G. Wood. 2015. 'Mast Cell: A Multi-Functional Master Cell', *Front Immunol*, 6: 620.

- Kuramasu, A., M. Wakabayashi, M. Inui, and K. Yanai. 2018. 'Distinct Roles of Small GTPases Rac1 and Rac2 in Histamine H(4) Receptor-Mediated Chemotaxis of Mast Cells', *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 367: 9-19.
- Kurashima, Y., and H. Kiyono. 2014. 'New era for mucosal mast cells: their roles in inflammation, allergic immune responses and adjuvant development', *Exp Mol Med*, 46: e83.
- Lee, R. J., and J. M. Oliver. 1995. 'Roles for Ca2+ stores release and two Ca2+ influx pathways in the Fc epsilon R1-activated Ca2+ responses of RBL-2H3 mast cells', *Mol Biol Cell*, 6: 825-39.
- Lee, T. J., W. J. Holtz, R. L. Smith, A. W. Alberts, and J. L. Gilfillan. 1991. '3-Hydroxy-3methylglutaryl-coenzyme A reductase inhibitors. 8. Side chain ether analogues of lovastatin', *J Med Chem*, 34: 2474-7.
- Li, S., M. Aliyeva, N. Daphtary, R. A. Martin, M. E. Poynter, S. F. Kostin, J. L. van der Velden, A.
   M. Hyman, C. S. Stevenson, J. E. Phillips, and L. K. Lundblad. 2014. 'Antigen-induced mast cell expansion and bronchoconstriction in a mouse model of asthma', *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol*, 306: L196-206.
- Li, Z., S. Liu, J. Xu, X. Zhang, D. Han, J. Liu, M. Xia, L. Yi, Q. Shen, S. Xu, L. Lu, and X. Cao. 2018. 'Adult Connective Tissue-Resident Mast Cells Originate from Late Erythro-Myeloid Progenitors', *Immunity*, 49: 640-53.e5.
- Lin, L. L., M. Wartmann, A. Y. Lin, J. L. Knopf, A. Seth, and R. J. Davis. 1993. 'cPLA2 is phosphorylated and activated by MAP kinase', *Cell*, 72: 269-78.
- Link, A., T. Ayadhi, M. Böhm, and G. Nickenig. 2006. 'Rapid immunomodulation by rosuvastatin in patients with acute coronary syndrome', *Eur Heart J*, 27: 2945-55.
- Martin, T. R., T. Takeishi, H. R. Katz, K. F. Austen, J. M. Drazen, and S. J. Galli. 1993. 'Mast cell activation enhances airway responsiveness to methacholine in the mouse', *J Clin Invest*, 91: 1176-82.
- Mendoza, Ryan P., Dylan H. Fudge, and Jared M. Brown. 2021. 'Cellular Energetics of Mast Cell Development and Activation', *Cells*, 10: 524.
- Montecucco, F., F. Burger, G. Pelli, N. K. Poku, C. Berlier, S. Steffens, and F. Mach. 2009. 'Statins inhibit C-reactive protein-induced chemokine secretion, ICAM-1 upregulation and chemotaxis in adherent human monocytes', *Rheumatology (Oxford)*, 48: 233-42.
- Moon, T. C., A. D. Befus, and M. Kulka. 2014. 'Mast cell mediators: their differential release and the secretory pathways involved', *Front Immunol*, 5: 569.
- Mor, A., I. Shefler, P. Salamon, Y. Kloog, and Y. A. Mekori. 2010. 'Characterization of ERK activation in human mast cells stimulated by contact with T cells', *Inflammation*, 33: 119-25.
- Németh, Tamás, Markus Sperandio, and Attila Mócsai. 2020. 'Neutrophils as emerging therapeutic targets', *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, 19: 253-75.
- Ness, G. C., C. M. Chambers, and D. Lopez. 1998. 'Atorvastatin action involves diminished recovery of hepatic HMG-CoA reductase activity', *J Lipid Res*, 39: 75-84.
- Nurmagambetov, T., R. Kuwahara, and P. Garbe. 2018. 'The Economic Burden of Asthma in the United States, 2008-2013', *Ann Am Thorac Soc*, 15: 348-56.
- Pabst, Oliver, and Emma Slack. 2020. 'IgA and the intestinal microbiota: the importance of being specific', *Mucosal Immunology*, 13: 12-21.

- Paez, P. A., M. Kolawole, M. T. Taruselli, S. Ajith, J. M. Dailey, S. A. Kee, T. T. Haque, B. O. Barnstein, J. J. A. McLeod, H. L. Caslin, K. N. Kiwanuka, Y. Fukuoka, Q. T. Le, L. B. Schwartz, D. B. Straus, D. A. Gewirtz, R. K. Martin, and J. J. Ryan. 2020. 'Fluvastatin Induces Apoptosis in Primary and Transformed Mast Cells', *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 374: 104-12.
- Peng, H., D. Carrico, V. Thai, M. Blaskovich, C. Bucher, E. E. Pusateri, S. M. Sebti, and A. D. Hamilton. 2006. 'Synthesis and evaluation of potent, highly-selective, 3-arylpiperazinone inhibitors of protein geranylgeranyltransferase-I', *Org Biomol Chem*, 4: 1768-84.
- Popko, K., E. Gorska, A. Stelmaszczyk-Emmel, R. Plywaczewski, A. Stoklosa, D. Gorecka, B. Pyrzak, and U. Demkow. 2010. 'Proinflammatory cytokines II-6 and TNF-α and the development of inflammation in obese subjects', *Eur J Med Res*, 15 Suppl 2: 120-2.

Quist-Paulsen, P. 2010. 'Statins and inflammation: an update', *Curr Opin Cardiol*, 25: 399-405.

- Ramkumar, S., A. Raghunath, and S. Raghunath. 2016. 'Statin Therapy: Review of Safety and Potential Side Effects', *Acta Cardiol Sin*, 32: 631-39.
- Raskov, Hans, Adile Orhan, Jan Pravsgaard Christensen, and Ismail Gögenur. 2021. 'Cytotoxic CD8+ T cells in cancer and cancer immunotherapy', *British Journal of Cancer*, 124: 359-67.

Reiner, Z. 2014. 'Resistance and intolerance to statins', *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis*, 24: 1057-66.

- Ricciotti, E., and G. A. FitzGerald. 2011. 'Prostaglandins and inflammation', *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 31: 986-1000.
- Ross, E. A., A. Devitt, and J. R. Johnson. 2021. 'Macrophages: The Good, the Bad, and the Gluttony', *Front Immunol*, 12: 708186.
- Salo, P. M., S. J. Arbes, Jr., M. Sever, R. Jaramillo, R. D. Cohn, S. J. London, and D. C. Zeldin. 2006. 'Exposure to Alternaria alternata in US homes is associated with asthma symptoms', *J Allergy Clin Immunol*, 118: 892-8.
- Schroeder, H. W., Jr., and L. Cavacini. 2010. 'Structure and function of immunoglobulins', *J* Allergy Clin Immunol, 125: S41-52.
- Sheshachalam, A., A. Baier, and G. Eitzen. 2017. 'The effect of Rho drugs on mast cell activation and degranulation', *J Leukoc Biol*, 102: 71-81.
- Singh, R. K., R. Tandon, S. G. Dastidar, and A. Ray. 2013. 'A review on leukotrienes and their receptors with reference to asthma', *J Asthma*, 50: 922-31.
- Sirtori, C. R. 2014. 'The pharmacology of statins', *Pharmacol Res*, 88: 3-11.
- Sobieraj, D. M., and W. L. Baker. 2018. 'Medications for Asthma', Jama, 319: 1520.
- Srikanth, S., K. D. Kim, Y. Gao, J. S. Woo, S. Ghosh, G. Calmettes, A. Paz, J. Abramson, M. Jiang, and Y. Gwack. 2016. 'A large Rab GTPase encoded by CRACR2A is a component of subsynaptic vesicles that transmit T cell activation signals', *Sci Signal*, 9: ra31.
- Storck, Elisabeth M., Julia Morales-Sanfrutos, Remigiusz A. Serwa, Nattawadee Panyain, Thomas Lanyon-Hogg, Tanya Tolmachova, Leandro N. Ventimiglia, Juan Martin-Serrano, Miguel C. Seabra, Beata Wojciak-Stothard, and Edward W. Tate. 2019. 'Dual chemical probes enable quantitative system-wide analysis of protein prenylation and prenylation dynamics', *Nature Chemistry*, 11: 552-61.
- Sun, J., M. A. Blaskovich, D. Knowles, Y. Qian, J. Ohkanda, R. D. Bailey, A. D. Hamilton, and S. M. Sebti. 1999. 'Antitumor efficacy of a novel class of non-thiol-containing peptidomimetic

inhibitors of farnesyltransferase and geranylgeranyltransferase I: combination therapy with the cytotoxic agents cisplatin, Taxol, and gemcitabine', *Cancer Res*, 59: 4919-26.

- Takayama, G., M. Ohtani, A. Minowa, S. Matsuda, and S. Koyasu. 2013. 'Class I PI3K-mediated Akt and ERK signals play a critical role in FccRI-induced degranulation in mast cells', *Int Immunol*, 25: 215-20.
- Takeda, N., M. Kondo, S. Ito, Y. Ito, K. Shimokata, and H. Kume. 2006. 'Role of RhoA inactivation in reduced cell proliferation of human airway smooth muscle by simvastatin', *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol*, 35: 722-9.
- Taketomi, Y., and M. Murakami. 2022. 'Regulatory Roles of Phospholipase A(2) Enzymes and Bioactive Lipids in Mast Cell Biology', *Front Immunol*, 13: 923265.
- Tesmer, L. A., S. K. Lundy, S. Sarkar, and D. A. Fox. 2008. 'Th17 cells in human disease', *Immunol Rev*, 223: 87-113.
- To, Teresa, Sanja Stanojevic, Ginette Moores, Andrea S. Gershon, Eric D. Bateman, Alvaro A. Cruz, and Louis-Philippe Boulet. 2012. 'Global asthma prevalence in adults: findings from the cross-sectional world health survey', *BMC Public Health*, 12: 204.
- Tse, S. M., L. Li, M. G. Butler, V. Fung, E. O. Kharbanda, E. K. Larkin, W. M. Vollmer, I. Miroshnik, D. Rusinak, S. T. Weiss, T. Lieu, and A. C. Wu. 2013. 'Statin exposure is associated with decreased asthma-related emergency department visits and oral corticosteroid use', *Am* J Respir Crit Care Med, 188: 1076-82.
- Tukler Henriksson, Johanna, Terry G. Coursey, David B. Corry, Cintia S. De Paiva, and Stephen C.
   Pflugfelder. 2015. 'IL-13 Stimulates Proliferation and Expression of Mucin and
   Immunomodulatory Genes in Cultured Conjunctival Goblet Cells', *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*, 56: 4186-97.
- Tulbah, A. S. 2020. 'The potential of Atorvastatin for chronic lung diseases therapy', *Saudi Pharm J*, 28: 1353-63.
- Turner, H., and D. A. Cantrell. 1997. 'Distinct Ras effector pathways are involved in Fc epsilon R1 regulation of the transcriptional activity of Elk-1 and NFAT in mast cells', *J Exp Med*, 185: 43-53.
- Van Cutsem, E., H. van de Velde, P. Karasek, H. Oettle, W. L. Vervenne, A. Szawlowski, P.
   Schoffski, S. Post, C. Verslype, H. Neumann, H. Safran, Y. Humblet, J. Perez Ruixo, Y. Ma, and D. Von Hoff. 2004. 'Phase III trial of gemcitabine plus tipifarnib compared with gemcitabine plus placebo in advanced pancreatic cancer', J Clin Oncol, 22: 1430-8.
- Vidarsson, Gestur, Gillian Dekkers, and Theo Rispens. 2014. 'IgG Subclasses and Allotypes: From Structure to Effector Functions', *Frontiers in Immunology*, 5.
- Walker, Jennifer A., and Andrew N. J. McKenzie. 2018. 'TH2 cell development and function', *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 18: 121-33.
- Wang, Gang, Katherine J. Baines, Juan Juan Fu, Lisa G. Wood, Jodie L. Simpson, Vanessa M.
   McDonald, Douglas C. Cowan, D. Robin Taylor, Jan O. Cowan, and Peter G. Gibson. 2015.
   'Sputum mast cell subtypes relate to eosinophilia and corticosteroid response in asthma', *European Respiratory Journal*: ERJ-01098-2015.
- Wang, J. Y., T. C. Yao, Y. T. Tsai, A. C. Wu, and H. J. Tsai. 2018. 'Increased Dose and Duration of Statin Use Is Associated with Decreased Asthma-Related Emergency Department Visits and Hospitalizations', *J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract*, 6: 1588-95.e1.

- Wang, M., and P. J. Casey. 2016. 'Protein prenylation: unique fats make their mark on biology', *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 17: 110-22.
- Wex, E., T. Bouyssou, M. J. Duechs, K. J. Erb, F. Gantner, M. P. Sanderson, A. Schnapp, B. E. Stierstorfer, and L. Wollin. 2011. 'Induced Syk deletion leads to suppressed allergic responses but has no effect on neutrophil or monocyte migration in vivo', *Eur J Immunol*, 41: 3208-18.
- Wishnie, A. J., T. Chwat-Edelstein, M. Attaway, and B. Q. Vuong. 2021. 'BCR Affinity Influences T-B Interactions and B Cell Development in Secondary Lymphoid Organs', *Front Immunol*, 12: 703918.
- Xing, Wei, K. Frank Austen, Michael F. Gurish, and Tatiana G. Jones. 2011. 'Protease phenotype of constitutive connective tissue and of induced mucosal mast cells in mice is regulated by the tissue', *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 108: 14210-15.
- Yamasaki, S., and T. Saito. 2008. 'Progress in allergy signal research on mast cells: signal regulation of multiple mast cell responses through FcepsilonRI', *J Pharmacol Sci*, 106: 336-40.
- Yang, F. C., R. Kapur, A. J. King, W. Tao, C. Kim, J. Borneo, R. Breese, M. Marshall, M. C. Dinauer, and D. A. Williams. 2000. 'Rac2 stimulates Akt activation affecting BAD/Bcl-XL expression while mediating survival and actin function in primary mast cells', *Immunity*, 12: 557-68.
- Yilmaz, A., C. Reiss, O. Tantawi, A. Weng, C. Stumpf, D. Raaz, J. Ludwig, T. Berger, A. Steinkasserer, W. G. Daniel, and C. D. Garlichs. 2004. 'HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors suppress maturation of human dendritic cells: new implications for atherosclerosis', *Atherosclerosis*, 172: 85-93.
- Zanna, M. Y., A. R. Yasmin, A. R. Omar, S. S. Arshad, A. R. Mariatulqabtiah, S. H. Nur-Fazila, and M. I. N. Mahiza. 2021. 'Review of Dendritic Cells, Their Role in Clinical Immunology, and Distribution in Various Animal Species', *Int J Mol Sci*, 22.
- Zeki, A. A., L. Franzi, J. Last, and N. J. Kenyon. 2009. 'Simvastatin inhibits airway hyperreactivity: implications for the mevalonate pathway and beyond', *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 180: 731-40.
- Zhao, W., C. A. Oskeritzian, A. L. Pozez, and L. B. Schwartz. 2005. 'Cytokine production by skinderived mast cells: endogenous proteases are responsible for degradation of cytokines', *J Immunol*, 175: 2635-42.
- Zhu, J., and W. E. Paul. 2008. 'CD4 T cells: fates, functions, and faults', *Blood*, 112: 1557-69.

## VITA

Jordan was born in Gainesville Florida to Patrick Dailey and Marian Dailey. Jordan graduated high school with honors from St. Francis High School in 2014 with the intention to go to colleges to attain a degree in the sciences. At the University of Florida, Jordan found a passion for science while working in the laboratories of Amy Vittor and Ana Conesa. After graduating from the University of Florida with a Bachelor's in Microbiology and Cell Science in 2018.

In 2018, Jordan joined Virginia Commonwealth University as a graduate student in the Microbiology and Immunology department and joined the Ryan lab in December of that year. She was awarded a supplemental NIH grant in 2020-2023. She was awarded the American Association of Immunologist trainee travel award for the annual meetings in 2020 and 2021. She presented research at AAI meetings in 2021 and 2022. In May 2022 she was awarded the Mary P. Coleman Award from the Department of Microbiology and Immunology at VCU. Jordan has contributed to 7 publications from the Ryan lab and 1 from her undergraduate work.